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Litigation Funding: The Numbers 

• Patent litigation is the largest category of funded matters, accounting for 32% of 

all capital commitments.

• A 2023 report indicates 30% of U.S. patent infringement cases are funded.

• Litigation funders generally receive three to four times their invested capital. 

• Litigation funding has evolved into a $15.2B per year U.S. industry.

• The litigation funding investment market is projected to increase from $17.5B in 

2025 to $67.2B in 2037.

• Key players: 
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Claims & Tenor of Litigation
Letter from Industry to the Committee on Oversight and Accountability 
(Oct. 2023)

• "TPLF may encourage the filing of non-meritorious lawsuits particularly in the aggregate 

litigation context."

• "[F]unders can and do exercise their control or influence over cases to advance their own 

profit goals (all to plaintiffs’ serious detriment), particularly by unreasonably prolonging 

cases and frustrating settlement prospects."

• "Patent litigation has also been adversely affected by TPLF. Federal courts are 

currently struggling to uncover the extent to which funders are manipulating 

intellectual property disputes for their own benefit. More and more, litigation 

investment entities are paying close attention to intellectual property assets, with TPLF 

now involved in approximately 30% of all patent litigation cases. As former Sen. Patrick 

Leahy characterizes the problem, litigation funders 'weaponize [patent] lawsuits as an 

investment strategy, . . . own[ing] or creat[ing] shell companies that [seek to] extract 

payments through legal action.'"



Claims & Tenor of Litigation 

• Counsel "fail[ed] to have any communication with their clients before filing, 

settling, and dismissing the clients’ cases. [The] sole counsel of record in the 11 cases 

filed in this Court on behalf of Nimitz [] filed those cases and then moved to dismiss seven 

of them without ever having communicated with [client], the sole natural person 

associated with Nimitz." 

• "The financial relationship between [funder] and Nimitz, for example, makes clear that 

their interests were not perfectly aligned in the seven cases [attorney] filed and settled 

without ever having spoken or otherwise communicated with [client]. [Funder] gets 90% of 

the profits obtained from asserting the [] patent … and Nimitz gets the remaining 10%."

• "[Funder] has virtually nothing to lose and everything to gain (i.e., 90% of 

everything) from asserting the [] patent in infringement suits around the country.”
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Settlement 
Letter from Industry to the Committee on Rules of Practice and Procedure 
(Oct. 2024) 

• "We know from experience that when TPLF is present in our cases, it 

fundamentally alters the dynamics and has a major impact on whether the 

dispute can be resolved through settlement."

• "We cannot make informed decisions without knowing the stakeholders who 

control the litigation…Without this information, the settlement process often 

unravels when the nominal plaintiff or its counsel needs to obtain approval from 

undisclosed non-party funders or uses the non-party as an excuse to retract a 

commitment to settle." 

8



Settlement 
In re Pork Antitrust Litig. (D. Minn. 2024)

• Sysco Corporation financed various antitrust lawsuits using $140 million in 
litigation financing.

• The funding agreement stated that "Sysco is required … to immediately email 
[funder] any settlement offers it receives 'and shall not accept a settlement with 
the Capital Providers' prior written consent, which shall not be unreasonably 
withheld.'"

• Sysco negotiated settlements with some defendants and the third-party funder 
"thinking the settlement amounts too low, withheld its approval." 

• The funder "applied for and was granted a temporary restraining order by an 
arbitration panel in New York, to prevent Sysco from finalizing the negotiated 
settlements." 
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Settlement 
In re Pork Antitrust Litig. (D. Minn. 2024)

• Following funder's efforts to prevent Sysco from settling its claims, Sysco filed 

motions asking D. Minn. to partially stay the pending cases for 60-days.

• "Sysco argued that it needed this much time both because it claimed [funder] was 

illicitly seeking to obstruct Sysco's ability to retain new counsel and because 

some law firms were reluctant to represent a client whose freedom of action 

to settle a case was limited."
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National Security
Letter from Sen. Cornyn and Sen. Tillis to the Advisory Committee on 
Civil Rules (July 2024) 

• "Litigation funding is an available weapon for foreign investors to attack domestic 

businesses. … Foreign adversaries could use litigation funding mechanisms 

to weaken critical industries or obtain confidential materials. These tactics 

by our foreign adversaries not only harm American businesses, but 

undermine our national security."

• "These funders have a large financial stake in the outcome of these cases, and 

they orient the outcome of the case around their investment goals, not the benefit 

of the plaintiffs. As a result, attorneys are incentivized to take cases with large 

potential payouts even when the claim is not meritorious."
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National Security 
U.S. Chamber of Commerce on Foreign Influence in Litigation Funding 
(Apr. 2024)

• "Aside from the ethical implications, there is a growing concern that a large 

volume of foreign-sourced money may be pouring into U.S. courts via TPLF, 

raising significant national and economic security risks."

• "A foreign actor could control the litigation, influence strategy, and encourage and 

exploit commercial disputes involving U.S. companies to advance their own 

national interests—in defense, technology, and other highly sensitive industries— 

while gaining important intellectual property [] about U.S. companies."
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National Security 
Letter from Sen. Kennedy to the Attorney General of the U.S. 
(Jan. 2023) 

• "The more pernicious threat is that hostile foreign governments or companies 

closely connected to them could use control of lawsuits in federal courtrooms to 

harm the United States' national security."

• "Foreign entities, including adversaries, 'can fund frivolous litigation to 

overwhelm U.S. courts, target lawsuits to weaken critical industries, or 

obtain confidential materials through the discovery process.'"

• "Given the relentless efforts by these adversaries … we should expect that 

litigation financing in our courtrooms is another dangerous weapon among 

their arsenal."
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National Security 
Letter from 14 State Attorney Generals to the U.S. DOJ (Dec. 2022)

• "It is impossible to know the extent that foreign adversaries are spending on 

American litigation through TPLF, which leads to significant concern that TPLF 

is being used to harm our States and threaten our country’s economic and 

national security."

• "Through strategic lending, foreign adversaries could threaten our economic 

and national security by weaponizing the U.S. judicial system. For instance, 

foreign countries such as China and Russia could use TPLF to fuel 

targeted lawsuits designed to weaken U.S. national defense companies in 

the business of protecting our national security interests. Likewise, costly 

litigation aimed at sabotaging major energy sectors that are vital to our 

economy poses a direct threat to our economic security interests and global 

independence."
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National Security 
GAO Report on Third-Party Funding of Patent Litigation (Dec. 2024)

• A December 2024 GAO report found that "[s]takeholders noted examples of 
several countries with involvement in funding patent litigation, including China, 
Saudi Arabia, and France, but did not know the extent of this funding given the 
limited available data."

➢Chinese intellectual property service provider Purplevine IP financed multiple 
U.S. intellectual property lawsuits against Samsung Electronics Co. and a 
subsidiary.

➢An investment firm established by Russian billionaires with close connections 
to Vladimir Putin funded lawsuits in the U.S. 
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National Security 
Protecting Our Courts from the Foreign Manipulation Act of 2025

• The Protecting Our Courts from the Foreign Manipulation Act of 2025 was 

reintroduced by Rep. Ben Cline (R-VA) on April 8th and would require disclosure of 

TPLF by foreign persons, states and sovereign wealth funds to, inter alia, the court, 

all named parties, and Attorney General and production of the funding agreement.

• This bill would ban foreign states and sovereign wealth funds from funding lawsuits 

in U.S. courts. 

➢"It shall be unlawful for any party to or counsel of record for a civil action to enter 

into an agreement creating a right for anyone, other than the named parties or counsel 

of record, to receive any payment that is contingent in any respect on the outcome of a 

civil action or any matter within the portfolio that includes the civil action and involves 

the same counsel of record or affiliated counsel, the terms of which are to be 

satisfied by money that has been or will be directly or indirectly sourced, in 

whole or in part, from a foreign state or a sovereign wealth fund." 
17
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Transparency Efforts

• There is no nationwide requirement to disclose litigation funding agreements to 

courts or opposing parties in U.S. federal litigation.

• Some district courts have developed local rules or taken other steps to require 

litigants to disclose information about their third-party litigation funding 

arrangements. 

• In addition, some judges have developed their own rules to require litigants to 

disclose the identities of outside parties with a financial interest in the outcome of 

a litigation.
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Transparency Efforts 
District of New Jersey 

• In July 2021, the District of New Jersey adopted L. Civ. R. 7.1.1 entitled 

"Disclosure of Third-Party Litigation Funding" 

• “[A]ll parties… shall file a statement… containing the following information 

regarding any person or entity that is not a party and is providing funding for 

some or all of the attorneys’ fees and expenses for the litigation on a nonrecourse 

basis in exchange for 

➢ (1) a contingent financial interest based upon the results of the litigation or 

➢ (2) a non-monetary result that is not in the nature of a personal or bank loan, or 

insurance:…”

20



Transparency Efforts 
District of New Jersey

• "[R]ather than directing carte-blanche discovery of plaintiffs' litigation funding, the 

Court will Order the discovery only if good cause exists to show the discovery is 

relevant to claims and defenses in the case. For example, discovery will be 

Ordered where there is a sufficient showing that a non-party is making 

ultimate litigation or settlement decisions, the interests of plaintiffs or the 

class are sacrificed or are not being protected, or conflicts of interest exist.”
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Transparency Efforts 
Chief Judge Connolly's Standing Order

• In April 2022, Judge Connolly of the District of Delaware issued a standing order requiring 

litigants to disclose, within 40 days of filing an initial pleading:

➢ The identity of their funders

➢Whether the funders exercise control over litigation or settlement decisions, and 

➢ A brief description of the funders’ financial interests in the litigation. 

• The standing order allows discovery of a party's funding arrangement upon showing:

➢ The funder has authority to make material litigation decisions or settlement decisions,

➢ The interests of any funded parties or the class are not being promoted or protected by the 

arrangement, 

➢Conflicts of interest exist as a result of the arrangement, or 

➢Other good cause exists.

22



Transparency Efforts 
Chief Judge Connolly's Standing Order

• Since Judge Connolly's standing order issued, there has been an estimated 41% 

drop in District of Delaware filings.

• Commentators suggest that third-party litigation financiers are fleeing the district 

to avoid disclosure.

• Others suggest that factors unrelated to third-party funding could explain the 

recent drop in patent filings, including the district's measures to alleviate its 

"overwhelming docket" and the elevation of Judge Stark to the Federal Circuit.
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Transparency Efforts 
Fed. Cir. Denies Mandamus Request for Standing Order

• The Federal Circuit has upheld Judge Connolly's standing order on disclosure of litigation 

funding arrangements.

• "The district court … became aware of information … indicating that an entity called IP 

Edge LLC was arranging assignments of patents to different LLCs that were plaintiffs in 

actions filed in the District Court for Delaware."

• The district court issued a memorandum that stated:

➢ "The records sought are all manifestly relevant to addressing [] concerns. … Are there real 

parties in interest other than Nimitz, such as [] IP Edge, that have been hidden from the Court 

and the defendants? Have those real parties in interest perpetrated a fraud on the court by 

fraudulently conveying to a shell LLC the [patent-in-suit] and filing a fictitious patent assignment 

with the [United States Patent and Trademark Office] designed to shield those parties from the 

potential liability they would otherwise face in asserting the ... patent in litigation?"
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Transparency Efforts 
Fed. Cir. Denies Mandamus Request for Standing Order

• Nimitz petitioned for a writ of mandamus to vacate the district court's order directing compliance 

with Judge Connolly's standing order.

• The Federal Circuit found that "Nimitz [has not] shown a clear right to preclude in camera inspection 

under these circumstances."

• "[I]t is clear that a direct challenge to those standing orders at this juncture would be premature, as 

Nimitz has not yet been found to violate those orders and will have alternative adequate means to 

raise such challenges if, and when, such violations are found to occur. While Nimitz asks the court 

to terminate the district court's inquiry under the standing orders, it has not shown a 'clear and 

indisputable' right to such relief." 

• "The district court did not seek information simply in order to serve an interest in public 

awareness, independent of the adjudicatory and court-functioning interests reflected in the 

stated concerns.”
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Transparency Efforts 
District of Delaware

• VLSI filed a declaration under seal stating that VLSI is a subsidiary of CF VLSI 

Holdings LLC and identifying ten additional entities that "own" VLSI Holdings. 

One of the entities was identified as "wholly owned by a closed end investment 

fund family comprised of six individual funds." VLSI did not identify those 

six funds.

• "[The declaration] does not identify the funds or their legal status.  These 

disclosures are clearly inadequate to meet the requirements of the Rule 7.1 

Disclosure Order, and that failure raises questions about whether VLSI has 

complied with the Litigation Funding Order.”
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Transparency Efforts 
Southern District of California 

• "This Court agrees with other courts in this district that have found litigation 

funding agreements and related documents can be 'directly relevant' to 'the 

valuations placed on the ... patents prior to the present litigation."

• "Defendant argues that the requested documents are not protected by privilege 

because the 'litigation funding documents are ... discoverable as facts related to a 

business transaction' and its requests merely 'target business information, not 

communications related to legal advice.' …The Court is not persuaded." 

• Because "Plaintiff will provide Defendant with, among other things, the 

identities of litigation funders … the Court finds that Defendant does not 

have a substantial need for litigation funding documents."

27

Taction Tech., Inc. v. Apple Inc. (S.D. Cal. 2022) 



Litigation Funding Disclosure 
Other District Courts

• Various district courts have local rules requiring disclosure of third-party litigation 

funding arrangements.

• They expand on Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 7.1, which provides for corporate 

disclosure statements. 

• Rules typically require a party to disclose the identity of any person or entity that has a 

financial interest in the outcome of the case. 

Local Rules

• N.D. Cal. Civil L.R 3-15

• N.D. Ga. Civ. R. 3.3;

• S.D. Ga. L.R. 7.1.1

• N.D. & S.D. Iowa Civ. R. 7.1

• D. Md. L.R. 103.3(b)

• E.D. Mich L.R. 83.4 

• D. Nev. L.R. 7.1-1

• E.D.N.C. Civ. R. 7.3

• N.D. Ohio L.R. 3.13(b) 

• S.D. Ohio Civ. R. 7.1.1
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Transparency Efforts 
Western District of Texas 

 
• Texas courts generally do not require disclosure of third-party funder interests. 

• "Shopify alleged Lower48 has received financial support from a third party to 

cover its expenses in connection with this litigation.…Shopify contends that 

identifying other third parties and comprehending the extent of their financial 

interests is vital for assessing the existence of any potential conflicts of interest 

between the involved parties and the Court."

• "[In] several cases from the Western District of Texas … courts denied motions to 

compel production of information regarding litigation funding."

• "Defendants have failed to demonstrate that Judge Gilliland's Order Denying 

Defendant's Motion to Compel was clearly erroneous or contrary to law."
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Litigation Transparency Act of 2025

• On February 7, 2025, Rep. Darrell Issa introduced the Litigation Transparency Act, which 

would require third-party litigation funding agreements to be disclosed and produced in all 

federal civil litigation.

• "[I]n any civil action, a party or any counsel of record for a party shall (1) disclose in 

writing to the court and all other named parties to the civil action the identity of any 

person (other than counsel of record) that has a right to receive any payment or thing 

of value that is contingent on the outcome of the civil action or a group of actions of 

which the civil action is a part; and (2) produce to the court and to each other named 

party to the civil action, for inspection and copying, any agreement creating a 

contingent right referred to in paragraph (1), including any ancillary agreement or 

document, except as otherwise stipulated or ordered by the court."
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Litigation Transparency Act of 2025

• The disclosure requirements do not apply with respect to a person that has a 

right to receive payment if that right is solely:

➢The repayment of the principal of a loan

➢The repayment of the principal of a loan plus interest that does not exceed 

the higher of 7 percent or a rate two times the annual average 30-year 

constant maturity Treasury yield for the year preceding the date on which the 

relevant agreement was executed, or 

➢The reimbursement of attorneys' fees.
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Advisory Committee on Rules of Practice 
and Procedure

• On October 10, 2024, the U.S. Judicial Conference’s Advisory Committee on Civil Rules 

agreed to create a subcommittee to study whether the Advisory Committee should 

propose a federal rule requiring the disclosure of third-party litigation funding information.

• Almost 125 companies signed a letter urging the Advisory Committee to amend the 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure:

➢ "We urge the Advisory Committee to propose a straightforward, uniform rule for TPLF 

disclosure to remedy the current imbalanced and inconsistent litigation dynamic that is 

prejudicial and frustrates civil justice. The FRCP should require disclosure of TPLF 

agreements that provide non-parties a direct interest in the outcome of the case. Absent 

such a rule, the continued uncertainty and court-endorsed secrecy of non-party funding in our 

cases will further unfairly skew federal civil litigation."
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELA WARE 

NIMITZ TECHNOLOGIES LLC, ) 
) 

Plaintiff, ) 
) 

V. ) Civ. No. 21-1247-CFC 
) 

CNET MEDIA, INC., ) 
) 

Defendant. ) 

NIMITZ TECHNOLOGIES LLC, ) 
) 

Plaintiff, ) 
) 

V. ) Civ. No. 21-1362-CFC 
) 

BUZZFEED, INC., ) 
) 

Defendant. ) 

NIMITZ TECHNOLOGIES LLC, ) 
) 

Plaintiff, ) 
) 

V. ) Civ. No. 21-1855-CFC 
) 

IMAGINE LEARNING, INC., ) 
) 

Defendant. ) 

Case 1:22-cv-00413-CFC   Document 23   Filed 11/30/22   Page 1 of 80 PageID #: 295



NIMITZ TECHNOLOGIES LLC, ) 
) 

Plaintiff, ) 
) 

v. ) Civ. No. 22-413-CFC 
) 

BLOOMBERG L.P., ) 
) 

Defendant. ) 
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MEMORANDUM 

Nimitz Technologies LLC has filed a petition for a writ of mandamus in the 

Federal Circuit, asking that court to reverse the Memorandum Order I issued in 

these four patent cases on November 10, 2022. Civ. No. 21-1247, D.I. 27; Civ. 

No. 21-1362, D.I. 21; Civ. No. 21-1855, D.I. 22; Civ. No. 22-413, D.I. 18.1 The 

Federal Circuit stayed the Memorandum Order "pending further action" and 

directed Defendants to respond to the petition no later than November 30. 

I issued the Memorandum Order sua sponte. The Memorandum Order 

directs Nimitz and its counsel to produce certain records to the Court. I stated in 

the Memorandum Order's first paragraph that I was ordering the production of 

these records because "the testimony of witnesses and representations of counsel 

at" a hearing I held on November 4 had "give[n] rise to concerns that include but 

are not limited to the accuracy of statements in filings made by [Nimitz] with the 

Court and whether the real parties in interest are before the Court[.]" D.I. 27 at 1. 

I had previously stated in the order that scheduled the November 4 hearing that I 

had "concerns about whether Plaintiff has complied with the Court's standing 

order regarding third-party litigation funding." D.I. 24 at 2. And I stated at the 

conclusion of the November 4 hearing that I thought the testimony adduced at the 

1 Unless otherwise noted, all docket citations that follow will be to Civ. No. 21-
1247. 
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hearing gave rise to concerns about the abuse of our courts and the "lack of 

transparency as to who the real parties before the Court are, about who is making 

decisions in these types oflitigation." D.I. 26 at 107:17-19. I also made very 

clear during the hearing-in the presence ofNimitz's counsel, George Pazuniak, 

and its owner, Mark Hall-that I had serious concerns that counsel had violated the 

Rules of Professional Conduct. I purposely did not repeat in the Memorandum 

Order my concerns about counsel's professionalism and potential role in the abuse 

of the Court because I have made no definitive conclusions about those issues, and 

I did not want to unnecessarily embarrass counsel; the Order's "include but are not 

limited to" wording was intentional. But in light of the Federal Circuit's stay order 

and the fact that I issued the Memorandum Order to protect important interests of 

this Court and not at Defendants' request, I think it prudent to explain more 

fulsomely and in writing the reasons I issued the Memorandum Order. 

I. 

The road to the Memorandum Order begins with Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure 7 .1. That rule requires any "nongovernmental corporate party" to file 

"with its first appearance, pleading, petition, motion, response, or other request 

addressed to the court" "a disclosure statement that: (1) identifies any parent 

corporation and any publicly held corporation owning 10% or more of its stock; or 

2 
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(2) states that there is no such corporation." The Advisory Committee Notes to the 

Rule explain its main purpose: 

The information required [ to be disclosed] by Rule 7 .1 (a) 
reflects the "financial interest" standard of Canon 
3C(l)(c) of the Code of Conduct for United States 
Judges. This information will support properly informed 
disqualification decisions in situations that call for 
automatic disqualification under Canon 3C(l)(c). 

FED. R. CIV. P. 7.1 advisory committee's notes to 2002 amendment. 

The Advisory Committee recognized that Rule 7.1 "does not cover all of the 

circumstances that may call for disqualification under the financial interest 

standard, and does not deal at all with other circumstances that may call for 

disqualification." Id. For those reasons, the Committee explained in its Notes that 

"Rule 7 .1 does not prohibit local rules that require disclosures in addition to those 

required by Rule 7.1" and also that " [ d]eveloping experience with local disclosure 

practices ... may provide a foundation for adopting more detailed disclosure 

requirements by future amendments of Rule 7.1." Id. 

These comments informed my decision to issue on April 18, 2022, a 

Standing Order Regarding Disclosure Statements Required by Federal Rule of 

Civil Procedure 7.1 (the Disclosure Order). See also Fed. R. Civ. P. 83(6) 

( authorizing judges to "regulate practice in any manner consistent with federal law, 

rules adopted under 28 U.S.C. §§ 2072 and 2075, and the district's local rules"). 
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That Order applies to all civil cases-not just patent cases-assigned to me and 

requires any "party [that] is a nongovernmental joint venture, limited liability 

corporation, partnership, or limited liability partnership, ... [to] include in its 

disclosure statement filed pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 7.1 the name 

of every owner, member, and partner of the party, proceeding up the chain of 

ownership until the name of every individual and corporation with a direct or 

indirect interest in the party has been identified." Disclosure Order at 1. 

I am not the only district court judge in the country who requires disclosures 

beyond what Rule 7.1 requires. See, e.g, C.D. Cal. R. 7.1-1; N.D. Cal. Civil L.R. 

3-15; N.D. Ga. Civ. R. 3.3; S.D. Ga. L.R. 7.1.1; N.D. & S.D. Iowa Civ. R. 7.1; D. 

Md. L.R. 103.3(b); E.D. Mich. L.R. 83.4; D. Nev. L.R. 7.1-1; E.D.N.C. Civ. R. 

7.3; N.D. Ohio L.R. 3.13(b); S.D. Ohio Civ. R. 7.1.1; N.D. Tex. L.R. 3.l(c); W.D. 

Tex. Civ. R. 33. It makes sense that other courts would have these additional 

disclosure requirements, as it is critically important that federal judges do not 

suffer from conflicts that could call into question their impartiality. As Justice 

Holmes noted: 

It is desirable that the trial of causes should take place 
under the public eye, not because the controversies of 
one citizen with another are of public concern, but 
because it is of the highest moment that those who 
administer justice should always act under the sense of 
public responsibility, and that every citizen should be 
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able to satisfy himself with his own eyes as to the mode 
in which a public duty is performed. 

Cowley v. Pulsifer, 137 Mass. 392, 394 (1884) (Holmes, J.). See also 28 U.S.C. § 

4 5 5 (a) ( requiring federal judges to disqualify themselves "in any proceeding in 

which [their] impartiality might reasonably be questioned");§ 455(b) (requiring 

federal judges to disqualify themselves where they have any "interest that could be 

substantially affected by the outcome of the proceeding"). 

The Disclosure Order also promotes the identification of the real parties in 

interest in a case. "[O]ne of the essential qualities of a Court of Justice [is] that its 

proceedings should be public." Doe v. Megless, 654 F.3d 404,408 (3d Cir. 2011) 

(quoting Daubney v. Cooper, 109 Eng. Rep. 438,441 (K.B. 1829) and citing Nixon 

v. Warner Cmmc 'ns, Inc., 435 U.S. 589, 598-99 (1978)) (alterations in original). 

"Identifying the parties to the proceeding is an important dimension of publicness. 

The people have a right to know who is using their courts." Doe v. Blue Cross & 

Blue Shield United of Wis., 112 F.3d 869, 872 (7th Cir. 1997) (Posner, J.); see also 

FED. R. Crv. P. 17(a) ("An action must be prosecuted in the name of the real party 

in interest."). Federal courts are not star chambers.2 

2 The Disclosure Order has the added benefit of ensuring that subject matter 
jurisdiction is present in diversity jurisdiction cases involving LLCs, whose 
citizenship is based on the citizenship of its individual members. See Lincoln 
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To promote additional transparency in this Court's proceedings, I also issued 

on April 18, 2022, a Standing Order Regarding Third-Party Funding Arrangements 

(the Third-Party Funding Order). That Order, which also applies to all civil cases 

assigned to me, provides in relevant part: 

... [W]here a party has made arrangements to receive 
from a person or entity that is not a party (a "Third-Party 
Funder") funding for some or all of the party's attorney 
fees and/or expenses to litigate this action on a non­
recourse basis in exchange for ( 1) a financial interest that 
is contingent upon the results of the litigation or (2) a 
non-monetary result that is not in the nature of a personal 
loan, bank loan, or insurance: 
1. Within the later of 45 days of this Order or 3 0 days 
of the filing of an initial pleading or transfer of the matter 
to this District, including the removal of a state action, 
the party receiving such funding shall file a statement 
(separate from any pleading) containing the following 
information: 

a. The identity, address, and, if a legal entity, 
place of formation of the Third-Party Funder(s); 

b. Whether any Third-Party Funder's approval 
is necessary for litigation or settlement decisions in the 

Benefit Life Co. v. AEI Life, LLC, 800 F.3d 99, 105 (3d Cir. 2015) ("[T]he 
citizenship of an LLC is determined by the citizenship of [ each of] its members." 
(quoting Zambelli Fireworks Mfg. Co. v. Wood, 592 F.3d 412,418 (3d Cir. 
2010))). To that end, the Disclosure Order acts in concert with my April 18, 2022 
Standing Order Regarding Disclosure of Citizenship of Organizational Entities in 
Diversity Cases. "Courts have long used the disclosure statement occasioned by 
[Rule 7 .1] as a means of discerning the citizenship of corporate entities for 
purposes [of] diversity jurisdiction." 5 CHARLES ALAN WRIGHT & ARTHURR. 
MILLER, FEDERAL PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE§ 1198 (4th ed.) (internal footnote 
and citations omitted). 
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action, and if the answer is in the affirmative, the nature 
of the terms and conditions relating to that approval; and 

c. A brief description of the nature of the 
financial interest of the Third-Party Funder( s ). 

Third-Party Funding Order at 1-2. Although the Third-Party Funding Order 

requires the filing of a statement if third-party litigation funding exists in a case, it 

does not require the filing of a negative statement that no third-party litigation 

funding exists. 

I modeled the Third-Party Funding Order on Local Civil Rule 7 .1.1 of the 

District of New Jersey's Local Rules. That rule was issued on June 21, 2021. The 

Judicial Conference of the Third Circuit has neither modified nor abrogated the 

Rule and therefore, by statute, the Rule remains in effect. See 28 U.S.C. 

§ 207l(c)(l)-(2); see also D.N.J. L. Civ. R. 83.1. Like the District ofNew Jersey, 

this Court is part of the Third Circuit; thus, I was (and am) confident about the 

appropriateness of the Third-Party Funding Order. My confidence is reinforced by 

the fact that as of 2018, six federal courts of appeals and 24 district courts had 

third-party funding disclosure requirements of some kind. See MEETING OF THE 

ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON CML RULES AGENDA BOOK 209, 210 Philadelphia, P.A. 

(Apr. 10, 2018) (reporting survey results showing that "[s]ix U.S. Courts of 

Appeals have local rules which require identifying litigation funders" and that "of 

the 94 federal district courts in the United States, 24-or roughly 25% of all U.S. 

7 

Case 1:22-cv-00413-CFC   Document 23   Filed 11/30/22   Page 9 of 80 PageID #: 303



District Courts-require disclosure of the identity of litigation funders in a civil 

case"). 

II. 

Nimitz filed these four patent cases and seven others in this Court between 

August 30, 2021 and March 30, 2022.3 It asserted in all 11 cases a single patent: 

U.S. Patent No. 7,848,328 (the #328 patent). Mr. Pazuniak has been Nimitz's 

attorney of record in each case. Nimitz voluntarily dismissed the seven other cases 

between December 2021 and April 2022. 4 

On May 9, 2022, I held an oral argument on motions to dismiss filed in three 

of the four cases at issue here: Civ. Nos. 21-1247, 21-1362, and 21-1855. On May 

13, 2022, my chambers discovered that Nimitz's Rule 7 .1 disclosure statement in 

3 The seven other cases were: Nimitz Techs. LLC v. Bleacher Rep., Inc., Civ. No. 
21-1246; Nimitz Techs. LLC v. Pinterest, Inc., Civ. No. 21-1248; Nimitz Techs. 
LLC v. Reddit, Inc., Civ. No. 21-1249; Nimitz Techs. LLC v. Conde Nast Ent. LLC, 
Civ. No. 21-1360; Nimitz Techs. LLC v. Skillshare, Inc., Civ. No. 21-1363; Nimitz 
Techs. LLC v. Twitter, Inc., Civ. No. 21-1364; Nimitz Techs. LLC v. Tastemade, 
Inc., Civ. No. 21-1856; and Nimitz Techs. LLC v. Bloomberg L.P., Civ. No. 22-
413. 
4 Civ. No. 21-1246, D.I. 10 (December 14, 2021); Civ. No. 21-1364, D.I. 8 
(December 14, 2021); Civ. No. 21-1248, D.I. 10 (December 20, 2021); Civ. No. 
21-1249, D.I. 11 (December 22, 2021); Civ. No. 21-1360, D.I. 10 (February 4, 
2022); Civ. No. 21-1363, D.I. 15 (April 27, 2022); Civ. No. 21-1856, D.I. 8 (April 
27, 2022). 
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the 21-1247 action did not identify any owner or member of Nimitz. Accordingly, 

I had the following oral order docketed that day: 

The parties are directed to certify within five days that 
they have complied with [the] April 18, 2022 Standing 
Order Regarding Disclosure Statements Required by 
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 7.1. The parties are also 
reminded of their obligation to comply with [the] April 
18, 2022 Standing Order Regarding Third-Party Funding 
Arrangements. 

May 13, 2022 Oral Order. 

On May 18, 2022, CNET, the defendant in the 21-1247 action, filed an 

amended disclosure statement in response to the May 13 order. D.I. 19. On May 

23, having received no response to the May 13 order from Nimitz, I issued an order 

to show cause why Nimitz should not be held in contempt for failing to comply 

with the May 13 order. D.I. 20. 

Two days later, on May 25, Nimitz filed in the 21-1247 action an amended 

Rule 7.1 disclosure statement in which it stated that "[t]he sole owner and member 

of Nimitz Technologies LLC is Mark Hall, an individual." D.I. 21 at 1. Nimitz 

made this same representation in three Rule 7 .1 disclosure statements it filed that 

same day in the other three actions at issue here. (It turns out that Nimitz had 

never filed Rule 7 .1 disclosure statements in these three cases; nor did it ever file a 
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Rule 7.1 disclosure statement in four of the other seven cases. See Civ Nos. 21-

1360, 21-1363, 21-1364, and 21-1856.) 

Nimitz also filed in all four cases on May 25 responses to the Third-Party 

Funding Order in which it represented that "Plaintiff has not entered into any 

arrangement with a Third-Party Funder, as defined in the Court's Standing Order 

Regarding Third Party Litigation Funding Arrangements." Civ. No. 21-1247, D.I. 

22; Civ. No. 21-1362, D.I. 17; Civ. No. 21-1855, D.I. 18; Civ. No. 22-413, D.I. 12. 

In the meantime, I turned my attention to other matters. 

III. 

On July 13, 2022, I held oral argument on a motion to dismiss filed in 

Longbeam Technologies LLC v. Amazon.com, Inc., Civ. No. 21-1559, a case I had 

no reason to believe at the time was related to Nimitz's cases. Mr. Pazuniak was 

not counsel of record for Long beam, and he did not attend the July 13 hearing. 

At the outset of the hearing, I told Longbeam's counsel that a "Supplement" 

Long beam had filed to amend its Rule 7 .1 disclosure statement did not comply 

with the Disclosure Order because the Supplement identified Longbeam as 

Longbeam's owner. Civ. No. 21-1559, D.I. 37 at 3:19-4:2. That observation led 

to the following colloquy: 

[Longbeam's Counsel]: With Your Honor's permission, 
immediately following the hearing, I would be glad to 
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contact my office and update [the supplement Rule 7.1 
disclosure statement] to the extent it's necessary or call 
back into your chambers. 

THE COURT: Well, ... don't call back in. This has to 
be on the record. Who is Long beam? Who are the 
members ofLongbeam Technologies, LLC? 

[Longbeam's Counsel]: I do not know. 

THE COURT: The defendants have no reaction to this 
statement[?] 

[Amazon's Counsel]: No, Your Honor. We're not sure 
either. 

THE COURT: Didn't raise any objections to it? 

[Amazon's Counsel]: No. We did not, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: Don't you want to know who's suing 
you? 

[Amazon's Counsel]: I think that would be helpful, yes, 
Your Honor. 

Civ. No. 21-1559, D.I. 37 at 4:14-5:6. I then gave Longbeam a week to again 

amend its Rule 7 .1 disclosure statement. 

On July 20, Longbeam filed an Amended Rule 7.1 Disclosure Statement, in 

which it represented that its "sole owner and only member is Sharon Bullion." 

Civ. No. 21-1559, D.I. 30 at 1. It also filed that day an Amended Statement 

Regarding Third-Party Funding in which it stated that "Longbeam has not entered 
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into any funding arrangement or agreement for the payment of attorneys' fees in 

this case other than, to the extent applicable, its retainer agreement with outside 

counsel of record, Daignault Iyer LLP." Civ. No. 21-1559, D.I. 31 at 1. 

On July 25, Amazon filed an objection to Longbeam's amended disclosure 

and third-party funding statements. Civ. No. 21-1559, D.I. 33. Amazon faulted 

the statements "for their failure to disclose Longbeam's apparent relationship with 

patent monetization entity IP Edge." Civ. No. 21-1559, D.I. 33 at 1. In Amazon's 

words: 

Longbeam's disclosures make no mention of IP Edge, 
but its own administrative filings, as well as public 
reporting, confirm that Longbeam is an extension of IP 
Edge. Longbeam's patent assignment, excerpted and 
recorded with the United States Patent and Trademark 
Office, confirms that the correspondence address for 
Longbeam is an "@ip-edge.com" email address. 
Independent news reports have confirmed that "IP Edge 
has continued to form additional entities ... among them 
... Longbeam Technologies LLC" and that this litigation 
specifically represents "a brand-new campaign run by IP 
Edge." The latter is notable given that a principal of IP 
Edge is a contributor to the same media outlet. 

Longbeam's failure to disclose its connection to IP Edge 
is concerning, given IP Edge's established practice of 
"the naming of individuals, seemingly with no prior 
connection to monetization, as managers or members of 
its various LLCs" to avoid disclosure of its real interests, 
in defiance of the purpose of this Court's standing 
disclosure orders. As the Court noted, this structure 
prevents Amazon from having any understanding of who 
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is actually suing it, and who is making strategic litigation 
decisions for Longbeam. 

Civ. No. 21-1559, D.I. 33 at 1-2 (citations and alterations omitted). 

Amazon attached to its objection two exhibits that bear on the Memorandum 

Order. The first is an assignment of the patents asserted by Longbeam against 

Amazon that was recorded in the United States Patent and Trademark Office 

(PTO) on October 29, 2021-three days before Longbeam filed its lawsuit in this 

Court. Civ. No. 21-1559, D.I. 34-1, Ex. A. Longbeam is identified in the 

assignment as the assignee. Civ. No. 21-1559, D.I. 34-1 at 2. Sharon Bullion 

signed the assignment on Longbeam's behalf and is identified in the assignment as 

Longbeam's managing member. She is also identified as the "submitter" of the 

patent assignment to the PTO. Civ. No. 21-1559, D.I. 34-1 at 2. The email 

address provided for the submitter is linhd@ip-edge.com. Civ. No. 21-1559, 

D.I. 34-1 at 2. 

The second exhibit is a May 22, 2022 article titled "Plaintiff Newly 

Assigned to Judge Connolly's Courtroom Amends Its Prior Disclosure" that 

appears to have been published by RPX Corporation. Civ. No. 21-1559, D.I. 34-1, 

Ex. E. Noteworthy here is the fact that the article identifies Mark Hall, Sally 

Pugal, and Lori LaPray each as a managing member of different LLCs that had 

been assigned IP Edge-related patents. Civ. No. 21-1559, D.I. 34-1 at 28. 
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According to the article, each of the LLCs was "formed just prior" to transfers of 

patents to the LLCs, after which each LLC "launched a litigation campaign over its 

received assets." Civ. No. 21-1559, D.I. 34-1 at 28. 

Amazon argued in its objection that "Longbeam's obfuscation prevent[ed] 

Amazon from meaningfully assessing whether Longbeam has standing to bring 

this action"; and it asked me to order "early discovery limited to this threshold 

issue of standing, including the production of relevant documents and a deposition 

ofLongbeam principals on the nature and extent of IP Edge's interests in this 

litigation and the asserted patents, while staying discovery on other issues." Civ. 

No. 21-1559, D.I. 33 at 2-3. 

Longbeam argued in a response to Amazon's objection that the recordation 

at the PTO of the assignment to Long beam of the patents it had asserted against 

Amazon "provide[ d] conclusive evidence that Plaintiff Longbeam has standing to 

bring this action." Civ. No. 21-1559, D.I. 36 at 1. Notably, nowhere in its 

response did Longbeam deny Amazon's assertions that Longbeam was simply "an 

extension of IP Edge," that IP Edge forms entities like and including Longbeam as 

part of a litigation campaign, and that IP Edge engages in a practice of naming 

individuals with no prior connection to patent monetization as managers or 

members of its various LLCs to avoid disclosure of its real interests in defiance of 
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the purpose of the Disclosure and Third-Party Funding Orders. Nor did Longbeam 

challenge in any way the accuracy of the RPX Corporation article. 

On August 1 7, I docketed an oral order granting Amazon's discovery and 

stay requests based on "concerns about Longbeam's standing to pursue this action 

and whether it has complied with the Court's standing order regarding third-party 

litigation funding arrangements." Civ. No. 21-1559, Aug. 17, 2022 Oral Order. I 

then moved on to other matters. 

IV. 

On August 25, I turned my attention to a motion filed by Jimmy Chong, 

Esquire, to withdraw as counsel for Missed Call, LLC in three patent cases: Missed 

Call, LLCv. Freshworks, Inc., Civ. No. 22-739; Missed Call, LLCv. Talkdesk, 

Inc., Civ. No. 22-740; and Missed Call, LLCv. Twilioinc., Civ. No. 22-742. I had 

no reason at the time to believe the Missed Call cases were related in any way to 

the Nimitz cases. I would soon learn otherwise. 

Mr. Chong has been a prolific filer of patent cases in our court. According 

to our CM/ECF records, he has filed more than 770 patent cases in this district 

since January 1, 2019. 

The motion in question, signed by Mr. Chong, was not your typical 

withdrawal motion: 
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... Plaintiff Missed Call, LLC, by and through its 
undersigned counsel, respectfully request[ s] to the 
withdrawal of counsel of Jimmy Chong, Esq[.], from the 
Chong Law Firm, P.A. for Plaintiff Missed Call, LLC in 
the above-captioned matters. The Plaintiff will continue 
to be represented by out-of-state counsel, William P. 
Ramey, III, Esquire, from the Ramey LLP and out-of­
state counsel's firm is presently seeking new Delaware 
Local Counsel. Out[-]ofI-]state counsel initially stated 
that multiple firms are able to act as local counsel; 
however, no firm has been presented as new Delaware 
Counsel to date. Good cause exists for the withdrawal as 
counsel, in that attorney is unable to effectively 
communicate with Client in a manner consistent with 
good attorney-client relations. Withdrawal can be 
accomplished without material adverse effect on the 
interests of Plaintiff. There is no objection to the 
withdrawal by the Ramey LLP. 

The Plaintiff has been forwarded a copy of this 
Motion[.] 

Civ. No. 22-739, D.I. 16 at 1-2; Civ. No. 22-740, D.I. 12 at 1-2; Civ. No. 22-742, 

D.I. 9 at 1-2. 

The motion presented an immediate problem. Mr. Ramey had been admitted 

pro hac vice in the Missed Call cases. But under Local Rule 83 .5( d) he could not 

continue to "be admitted pro hac vice in this Court unless [he was] associated with 

an attorney who is a member of the Bar of this Court and who maintains an office 

in the District of Delaware for the regular transaction of business." Furthermore, 

Rule 83 .5( d) requires that all filings be made by Delaware counsel. Thus, unless 
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and until another Delaware lawyer entered an appearance on behalf of Missed Call, 

I did not see how I could grant Missed Call's motion to withdraw Mr. Chong as its 

counsel. The cryptic language in one sentence of the motion-"[g]ood cause exists 

for the withdrawal as counsel, in that attorney is unable to effectively communicate 

with Client in a manner consistent with good attorney-client relations"-also 

raised alarm bells. Accordingly, I issued an order on the afternoon of August 25 

setting a hearing on the withdrawal motion for September 1. I expressly stated in 

the August 25 order that both Mr. Chong and Mr. Ramey were required to attend 

the hearing in person. 

By the time September 1 came around, Mr. Chong had filed motions to 

withdraw in 15 patent cases in which he acted as Delaware counsel for an LLC that 

was also represented by Mr. Ramey.5 Six of those cases (including the three 

Missed Call cases) were assigned to me. In none of the six cases assigned to me 

5 See Civ. No. 22-739, D.I. 16; Civ. No. 22-740, D.I. 12; Civ. No. 22-742, D.I. 9; 
Wireless Discovery LLC v. Coffee Meets Bagel, Inc., Civ. No. 22-478, D.I. 23; 
Wireless Discovery LLC v. Down App, Inc., Civ. No. 22-479, D.I. 24; Wireless 
Discovery LLC v. Eharmony, Inc., Civ. No. 22-480, D.I. 27; Wireless Discovery 
LLC v. Grindr, Inc., Civ. No. 22-481, D.I. 26; Wireless Discovery LLC v. Hily 
Corp., Civ. No. 22-482, D.I. 24; Wireless Discovery LLC v. The Meet Grp., Inc., 
Civ. No. 22-484, D.I. 25; Ortiz & Assocs. Consulting, LLC v. Netgear, Inc., Civ. 
No. 22-613, D.I. 10; Safe IP LLC v. Copyleaks, Inc., Civ. No. 22-918, D.I. 12; Safe 
IP LLC v. Grammarly, Inc., Civ. No. 22-919, D.I. 10; Safe IP LLC v. Proctorio, 
Inc., Civ. No. 22-920, D.I. 9; WFR IP LLC v. GN Audio USA Inc., Civ. No. 22-
931, D.I. 11; WFR IP LLC v. Skullcandy, Inc., Civ. No. 22-932, D.I. 14. 
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had the Plaintiff complied with the Disclosure Order. And in none of those cases 

had the Plaintiff filed a third-party funding disclosure statement. 

Mr. Ramey chose not to appear at the September 1 hearing. (At a later 

hearing, I found that Mr. Ramey's willful disregard of the August 25 order 

warranted sanctions.) Mr. Chong did appear. Two issues arose at the hearing that 

bear on the Memorandum Order. 

First, Mr. Chong admitted at the hearing that Missed Call and other LLCs 

that he and Mr. Ramey represented in cases assigned to me had failed to comply 

with the Disclosure Order. Early in the hearing Mr. Chong appeared to fault Mr. 

Ramey for this failure: 

THE COURT: Do you know you are not in compliance, 
in many of these cases with Mr. Ramey, [you].have not 
complied with my standing orders; do you know that? 

MR. CHONG: And-

THE COURT: Do you know that? 

MR. CHONG: Yes, Your Honor. Those are some of the 
issues that we have been running into that there's some 
things that I cannot do without cooperation from Mr. 
Ramey's office, and that is really the most-some of the 
most difficult things I'm running into. 

Civ. No. 22-739, D.I. 33 at 4:20-5:5. 
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But later in the hearing, Mr. Chong appeared to accept sole responsibility for 

his clients' failure to comply with the Disclosure Order: 

THE COURT: Have you asked for-I'm not asking 
who. I'm asking these questions very intentionally. 
Have you asked for information that would enable you to 
disclose to the Court who the members of Missed Call, 
LLC are? 

MR. CHONG: I have not specifically asked that to 
disclose to the Court specifically. 

THE COURT: You know you are required to disclose to 
the Court, right, who the members of Missed Call, LLC 
are, right? 

MR. CHONG: Yes. 

THE COURT: That's not disputed, right? 

MR. CHONG: Correct. 

THE COURT: That's the standing order? 

MR. CHONG: Correct. 

THE COURT: Have you asked for that information, so 
that you can fulfill your obligation to comply with the 
standing order? 

MR. CHONG: Yes. 

THE COURT: So you have asked for that information? 

MR. CHONG: Yes. 
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THE COURT: Presumably you've either asked Mr. 
Ramey or the client for that information? 

MR. CHONG: Yes. 

THE COURT: Okay. Have you received that 
information? 

MR. CHONG: Yes. 

* * * * 
THE COURT: When did you obtain information about 
the membership of Missed Call, LLC? 

MR. CHONG: I don't have the exact date. I've known it 
for some time, Your Honor. 

* * * * 
THE COURT: So I'm trying to figure out: Why if you 
know or have been told who are the members of the 
LLC, why you haven't complied with the Court order? 

MR. CHONG: I don't have-

THE COURT: Has Mr. Ramey ever suggested to you 
that you should put off disclosing the identity of any 
members of an LLC? 

MR. CHONG: No, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: So if it turns out that in a number of cases 
with Mr. Ramey, there is a complete failure to comply 
with the disclosure order, that's on you; is that what you 
are saying? 

MR. CHONG: That would be on me, Your Honor, yes. 
That would be. 

Civ. No. 22-739, D.I. 33 at 21:13-22:16, 23:12-15, 24:3-16. 
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Second, Mr. Chong unequivocally identified Carlos Gorrichategui as the 

owner of Missed Call: 

THE COURT: . . . Describe for me Missed Call. 

MR. CHONG: Describe for you? 

THE COURT: Missed Call. 

MR. CHONG: So I have a lot of cases, and I do admit I 
don't know the details offhand right now. I know the 
owner. I've spoken with him. 

THE COURT: So who is the owner of Missed Call[]? 

MR. CHONG: Carlos G-U-I-I don't have his­
Gorrichategui. I represented him in other cases, Your 
Honor. 

* * * * 
THE COURT: And you say you're unable to effectively 
communicate with the client in a manner consistent with 
good attorney-client relations. That client in this case is 
Missed Call? 

MR. CHONG: Yes. 

THE COURT: You don't know who the client is sounds 
like or do you? 

MR. CHONG: Carlos. 

THE COURT: Carlos is also Missed Call? 

MR. CHONG: Yes. 

Civ. No. 22-739, D.I. 33 at 16:11-21, 20:20-21:4. 

21 

Case 1:22-cv-00413-CFC   Document 23   Filed 11/30/22   Page 23 of 80 PageID #: 317



V. 

The day after the Missed Call hearing, September 2, Mr. Chong filed 11 

am.ended Rule 7.1 disclosures in five different sets of related patent cases. Four 

sets of those related cases bear directly on the Memorandum. Order. 

First, in the three Missed Call cases, and notwithstanding Mr. Chong's 

representations to the Court the day before that Missed Call was owned by Carlos 

Gorrichategui, Mr. Chong filed in the 22-740 Missed Call action an am.ended 

disclosure statement in which Missed Call represented that it was "owned 100% by 

Pueblo Neuvo, LLC (Hernan Perec owns 100% of Pueblo Nuevo, LLC).O. 

Gorrichategui. [sic]" Civ. No. 22-740, D.I. 15 at 1. Mr. Chong filed that same day 

in the 22-739 and 22-742 Missed Call actions am.ended statements that were 

identical to the 22-740 am.ended statement except that they deleted "O. 

Gorrichategui." Civ. No. 22-739, D.I. 19 at 1; Civ. No. 22-742, D.I. 13 at 1. The 

com.plaints in all three cases had been filed on June 6, 2022 and alleged 

infringement of the same patent: U.S. Patent No. 9,531,872. 

Second, in two related cases brought by Lam.plight Licensing LLC, Mr. 

Chong filed am.ended Rule 7 .1 disclosure statements in which Lam.plight 

represented that "its sole owner and managing partner [sic] is Sally Pugal." 

Lamplight Licensing LLC v. ABB Inc., Civ. No. 22-418, D.I. 12 at 1; Lamplight 
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Licensing LLC v. Ingram Micro, Inc., Civ. No. 22-1017, D.I. 8 at 1. Lamplight had 

asserted in these two cases and in four other related cases filed by Mr. Chong 

beginning in November 2021 the same patent: U.S. Patent No. 9,716,393. The 

four other cases were voluntarily dismissed before September 2. 6 

Third, in two cases brought by Mellaconic IP, LLC, Mr. Chong filed 

amended disclosure statements in which Mellaconic represented that "its sole 

owner and managing partner [sic] is Hau Bui." Mellaconic IP LLC v. TimeClock 

Plus, LLC, Civ. No. 22-244, D.I. 14 at 1; Mellaconic IP LLC v. Deputy, Inc., Civ. 

No. 22-541, D.I. 8 at 1. Mellaconic had asserted in these cases and in 17 related 

cases filed by Mr. Chong beginning in September 2020 the same patent: U.S. 

Patent No. 9,986,435. The 17 other cases were voluntarily dismissed before 

September 2.7 

6 See Lamplight Licensing, LLC v. CyberPower Sys., Inc., Civ. No. 21-1689, D.I. 
14; Lamplight Licensing LLC v. Vertiv Holdings Co., Civ. No. 21-1690, D.I. 9; 
Lamplight Licensing, LLC v. Legrand AV, Inc., Civ. No. 21-1691, D.I. 13; 
Lamplight Licensing LLC v. Panduit Corp., Civ. No. 22-417, D.I. 13. 
7 See Mellaconic IP LLC v. RideCell, Inc., Civ. No. 20-1323, D.I. 12; Mellaconic 
IP LLC v. Frontpoint Sec. Sols., LLC, Civ. No. 21-447, D.I. 10; Mellaconic IP LLC 
v. Wyze Labs, Inc., Civ. No. 21-448, D.I. 9; Mellaconic IP LLC v. Cent. Sec. Grp.­
Nationwide, Inc., Civ. No. 21-573, D.I. 10; Mellaconic IP LLC v Monitronics Int'!, 
Inc., Civ. No. 21-574, D.I. 9; Mellaconic IP LLC v. Canary Connect, Inc., Civ. No. 
21-944, D.I. 8; Mellaconic IP LLC v. Fantasia Trading LLC, Civ. No. 21-945, D.I. 
16; Mellaconic IP LLC v. Trane Techs. Co. LLC, Civ. No. 21-1080, D.I. 11; 
Mellaconic IP LLC v. Linxup, LLC, Civ. No. 21-1081, D.I. 10; Mellaconic IP LLC 
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Fourth, in two cases brought by Backertop Licensing, LLC, Mr. Chong filed 

amended disclosure statements in which Backertop represented that "its sole owner 

and managing partner [sic] is Lori LaPray." Backertop Licensing LLC v. Canary 

Connect, Inc., Civ. No. 22-572, D.I. 16 at 1; Backertop Licensing LLC v. August 

Home, Inc., Civ. No. 22-573, D.I. 19 at 1. Mr. Chong had filed a total of four 

cases for Backertop beginning in April 2022. Backertop asserted in all four actions 

the same three patents: U.S. Patent No. 9,332,385, U.S. Patent No. 9,654,617, and 

U.S. Patent No. 10,728,382. In three of the actions, it also asserted U.S. Patent No. 

10,477,011. Backertop had voluntarily dismissed in August 2022 the other two 

cases.8
' 

9 

v. Ezlo Innovation Ltd., Civ. No. 21-1373, D.I. 9; Me/laconic IP LLC v. Verkada, 
Inc., Civ. No. 21-1374, D.I. 9; Me/laconic IP LLC v. Incognia US Inc., Civ. No. 
21-1844, D.I. 10; Me/laconic IP LLCv. Carrier Glob. Corp., Civ. No. 21-1853, 
D.I. 12; Me/laconic IP LLC v. Connecteam, Inc., Civ. No. 22-242, D.I. 12; 
Me/laconic IP LLC v. PrismHR, Inc., Civ. No. 22-243, D.I. 9; Me/laconic IP LLC 
v. Avast Software, Inc., Civ. No. 22-540, D.I. 10; Me/laconic IP LLC v. Justworks, 
Inc., Civ. No. 22-542, D.I. 12. 
8 See Backertop Licensing LLC v. Wyze Labs, Inc., No. 22-570, D.I. 10; Backertop 
Licensing LLC v. Hampton Prods. Int'l Corp., No. 22-574, D.I. 13. 
9 The fifth set of cases were brought by Creekview IP, LLC. Mr. Chong filed 
amended disclosure statements in which Creekview represented that "its sole 
owner and managing partner [sic] is Jacob LaPray." Creekview IP LLC v. Jabra 
Corp., Civ. No. 22-426, D.I. 14 at 1; Creekview IP LLC v. Skullcandy Inc., Civ. 
No. 22-427, D.I. 16 at 1. Creekview had asserted in these two cases and in four 
other related cases filed by Mr. Chong beginning in November 2021 the same 
single patent: U.S. Patent No. 9,608,472. The four other cases were voluntarily 
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VI. 

By this time, even putting aside Mr. Ramey's failure to appear at the 

September 1 hearing, I had numerous concerns with respect to the cases being 

handled by Messrs. Chong and Ramey. It was undisputed that five of their clients 

had failed to comply with the Disclosure Order in 11 cases, and Mr. Chong had not 

offered at the September 1 hearing a satisfactory explanation for these failures. On 

the contrary, Mr. Chong had given conflicting statements during the hearing about 

whether Mr. Ramey played a role in their clients' failures to comply with the 

Disclosure Order. I was also troubled by the fact that Mr. Chong's unequivocal 

representation during the hearing that Carlos Gorrichategui owned Missed Call 

was at odds with the September 2 amended disclosure in which Missed Call 

represented that its sole owner was Heman Perec. 

There was also reason to believe that Mr. Chong's cases shared with the 

Nimitz cases more than simply the fact that the plaintiffs in all these cases had 

failed to comply with the Disclosure Order. The amended disclosures filed by Mr. 

Chong on September 2 identified Sally Pugal as Lamplight's sole owner and Lori 

dismissed before September 2. See Creekview JP LLC v. Corsair Gaming, Inc., 
Civ. No. 21-1685, D.I. 8; Creekview IP LLC v. Belkin Int'!, Inc., Civ. No. 21-1686, 
D.I. 15; Creekview IP LLC v. Best Buy Co., Inc., Civ. No. 22-425, D.I. 20; 
Creekview IP LLC v. Zound Indus. USA Inc., Civ. No. 22-428, D.I. 12. 
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LaPray as Backertop's sole owner. Nimitz's amended disclosure filed in response 

to the May 13 show cause order identified Mark Hall as its sole owner. As noted 

above, the RPX article filed in support of Amazon's objection to Longbeam's 

amended disclosure statement identified Ms. Pugal, Ms. LaPray, and Mr. Hall each 

as managing members of different LLCs that had been formed and then assigned 

IP Edge-related patents just before bringing a series of lawsuits alleging 

infringement of those patents. Longbeam had not disputed these allegations; nor 

had it denied that it was an IP Edge-related entity. IP Edge is a well-known patent 

monetization firm, but neither Nimitz nor Mr. Chang's clients had disclosed a 

third-party funding arrangement with IP Edge. 

My law clerk's review of the PTO's patent assignment database also 

appeared to confirm that Mr. Pazuniak's Nimitz cases and Mr. Chang's Mellaconic 

cases were connected with each other and with IP Edge. Nimitz filed with the 

PTO on August 26, 2021-four days before it filed the first of its 11 cases in this 

Court-an assignment of the #328 patent. The assignment, dated August 20, 2021, 

identifies the assignor of the patent as Burley Licensing LLC and the assignee as 

Nimitz. The assignment identifies Hau Bui as the managing member of Burley 

and Mark Hall as the managing member of Nimitz. Hall is also identified as the 

"submitter" of the assignment to the PTO, and the email address provided to the 
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PTO for Hall is linhd@ip-edge.com-the same email address given for Sharon 

Bullion in the assignment of the patents Longbeam asserted against Amazon. 

Based on the totality of this information, I was concerned that Nimitz and 

the LLC plaintiffs represented by Mr. Chong may not have complied with the 

Third-Party Funding Order, as none of those parties had disclosed a funding 

arrangement with IP Edge. Accordingly, on September 12 and 13, 2022, I issued 

orders in these cases convening a series of evidentiary hearings "to determine 

whether [each] Plaintiff has complied with the Court's standing order regarding 

third-party litigation funding." Civ. No. 21-1247, D.I. 24 at 2; Civ. No. 21-1362, 

D.I. 18 at 2; Civ. No. 21-1855, D.I. 19 at 2; Civ. No. 22-413, D.I. 16 at 2; Civ. No. 

22-418, D.I. 13 at 2; Civ No. 22-1017, D.I. 9 at 2; Civ. No. 22-244, D.I. 16 at 2; 

Civ. No. 22-541, D.I. 10 at 2; Civ. No. 22-572, D.I. 18 at 2; Civ. No. 22-573, 

D.I. 21 at 2; Civ. No. 22-426, D.I. 15 at 2; Civ. No. 22-427, D.I. 19 at 2. For each 

hearing, I directed the owner of the plaintiff LLC to be present. And because 

Messrs. Bui and Hall were identified as the managing members respectively of the 

assignor and the assignee in the #328 patent assignment filed with the PTO, I 

scheduled a single hearing on November 4 for the Nimitz and Mellaconic cases. 
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VII. 

On October 12, 2022, Mr. Chong asked me to include the Lamplight cases at 

the November 4 Nimitz/Mellaconic hearing to accommodate the work schedule of 

Lamplight's owner, Sally Pugal. Civ. No. 22-418, D.I. 17; Civ. No. 22-1017, 

D.I. 13. I agreed to that request. Civ. No. 22-418, October 17, 2022 Oral Order; 

Civ. No. 22-1017, October 17, 2022 Oral Order. 

On October 31, Mr. Chong filed a letter in which he stated: 

An in-person Evidentiary Hearing for the above 
cases is scheduled for this Friday, November 4, 2022, 
which was moved from November 10, 2022 expressly to 
accommodate Sally Pugal, the owner of Lamplight. On 
October 21, 2022, I was first advised by Ms. Pugal' s 
representative that she has a health-related issue which 
now may prevent her from attending the hearing with the 
Court here in Delaware. I do not have more detailed 
information about the nature of her medical issue. Every 
day since October 24, including over the weekends, I 
have attempted to contact Ms. Pugal multiple times bye­
mail and telephone without success. 

Although Ms. Pugal's flight reservation and hotel 
accommodations remain in place, as of this moment, I am 
not certain whether Ms. Pugal actually will travel to 
Delaware or appear for the hearing. In all prior 
communications that my staff and I had with Ms. Pugal 
she made every indication that she would travel to 
Delaware and would appear before the Court on 
November 4, 2022. 

I wanted to bring this issue to the Court's attention 
and I will provide the Court with any updates promptly. 
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I am available to confer with your Honor should the 
Court need any additional information prior to the 
hearing. 

Civ. No. 22-418, D.I. 20 at 1-2; Civ. No. 22-1017, D.I. 14 at 1-2. 

Late in the afternoon of November 3, Mr. Chong filed a letter requesting a 

continuance of the November 4 hearing because of Ms. Pugal's health issues. Civ. 

No. 22-418, D.I. 22; Civ. No. 22-1017, D.I. 15. 

VIII. 

Ms. Pugal did not appear at the November 4 hearing. At the outset of the 

hearing, I questioned Mr. Chong about his statement in his October 31 letter that 

he "was first advised by Ms. Pugal's representative that she has a health-related 

issue which now may prevent her from attending the hearing": 

THE COURT: Who was [Ms. Pugal's] representative? 

MR. CHONG: ... So Ms. Pugal['s] ... representative is 
a company called Mavexar, who handles-who I have 
been working with, that handles a lot of, you know, is­
basically, speaks on her behalf as her representative. 

* * * * 
THE COURT: Okay. So what is Mavexar? 

MR. CHONG: My understanding, Mavexar is the-M­
A-V-E-X-A-R-is the consulting company that Ms. 
Pugal has retained in regards to Lamplight. 

THE COURT: Okay. Now, your understanding is that 
Ms. Pugal retained this consulting company. How do 
you have that understanding? 
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MR. CHONG: I've been working with Mavexar in­
with the Lamplight patents. So when I contact 
Lamplight, I contact Mavexar .... 

* * * * 
THE COURT: Had you ever spoken with [Ms. Pugal] 
before you filed these cases? 

MR. CHONG: I did not speak with her before I filed 
these cases. Mavexar had reached out to me on her 
behalf. And we had communicated through Mavexar, 
and had our fee agreement, and so forth, signed as 
Mavexar was acting as a representative of Ms. Pugal. 

THE COURT: So you are representing an entity that's 
exclusively owned by somebody, and you signed a 
retention letter with whom? With Lamplight? 

MR. CHONG: Yes. 

THE COURT: And you had never met the owner of 
Lamplight when you signed the retention letter, is what 
you're telling me? 

MR. CHONG: That is correct. 

THE COURT: And, in fact, it sounds like you never had 
any discussions with the owner of Lamplight when you 
signed the retention letter with Lamplight. 

MR. CHONG: I did not speak with her directly. I spoke 
with the representatives. 

THE COURT: Her representative who's not an 
employee of Lamplight. This is a consulting firm, a 
separate entity; is that right? 
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MR. CHONG: That is correct. 

THE COURT: Okay. It's Mavexar. 

MR. CHONG: That is correct. 

THE COURT: All right. Do you know what the rules of 
ethics are about having a relationship with a client that 
is initiated by a third party? 

I'm trying to think of any other context, so help me 
out. I'm just trying to think what rules would be 
applicable. I'm not judging. I'm asking questions here. 

But I'm trying to understand how you end up in an 
attorney-client relationship with an LLC that is 
exclusively owned by an individual that you have never 
met and you've had no conversations with an employee 
of the LLC, and yet you end up in an attorney-client 
relationship with the LLC. 

Do you know what rules would be implicated by 
that? 

MR. CHONG: So Your Honor, I have to stop and think. 

THE COURT: How did you run conflicts? I mean, I'm 
just trying to think how you would run conflicts when 
you're dealing with a third party that's negotiating with 
you to set up an attorney-client relationship with 
somebody else, another entity. 

I'm trying to figure out how you run conflicts. Did 
you run conflicts? 

MR. CHONG: Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: And it's all based on representations from 
a third party, not from the client, correct? 

MR. CHONG: That is correct, Your Honor. 
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THE COURT: All right. 

* * * * 
THE COURT: Do you have your retention letter? 

MR. CHONG: Yes, I do, Your Honor. 

D.I. 26 at 6:21-7:1, 7:6-15, 10:3-12:7, 18:24-25 (emphasis added). 

At this point, at my request and without objection Mr. Chong handed up a 

copy of his firm's retention letter with Lamplight. The letter is signed by Mr. 

Chong on behalf of his firm and by Sally Pugal on behalf of Lamplight. A cursory 

review of the retention letter at the hearing raised troubling questions. For 

example, paragraph 24 of the retention letter reads as follows: 

CLIENT ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT WAS 
ADVISED TO RETAIN INDEPENDENT LEGAL 
COUNSEL TO REPRESENT CLIENT IN 
CONNECTION WITH THE NEGOTIATION AND 
EXECUTION OF THIS AGREEMENT, AND WITH 
RESPECT TO THE ARBITRATION CLAUSE 
ABOVE. CLIENT FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGES 
THAT IT WAS ADVISED THAT FIRM HAS A 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST THAT PREVENTS IT 
FROM REPRESENTING CLIENT IN ANYWAY 
WITH RESPECT TO THE NEGOTIATION AND 
EXECUTION OF THIS AGREEMENT AND THAT 
FIRM HAS NOT DONE SO. 

Nov. 4, 2022 Hr'g, Ex. 1 at 7 (capitalization in the original). I asked Mr. Chong 

specifically about this paragraph: 
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THE COURT: Since you never spoke with her, how did 
you advise Lamplight Licensing, which is the client, the 
only member of which is Ms. Pugal? 

How did you actually advise Lamplight, LLC, to 
retain independent legal counsel to represent it in 
connection with the negotiation and execution of your 
retainer agreement? 

MR. CHONG: That was advised through its 
representatives. So Mavexar was speaking on behalf of 
Ms. Puga! and handled the discussions. So I had 
discussed-I had everything-every discussion I've had 
was with Mavexar as if it was Lamplight. 

D.I. 26 at 20:14-25 (emphasis added). 

Mr. Chong also revealed at the hearing that he did not know the financial 

terms ofMavexar's relationship with Lamplight. See D.I. 26 at 29:14-17 ("THE 

COURT: Do you know what the financial terms ofMavexar's relationship with 

Lamplight are? MR. CHONG: I don't. That's something that they have worked 

out themselves."). 

At the conclusion of my colloquy with Mr. Chong, I stated that I was "not 

able to make any more definitive judgments about the accuracy of the third-party 

funding statements, which is what gave rise to this hearing[,] ... without hearing 

directly from" Ms. Pugal, D.I. 26 at 37:8-12; and I asked Mr. Chong to provide 

within 30 days a status report of Ms. Pugal's health and ability to participate in a 

hearing, D.I. 26 at 39:9-16. 
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At this point, although I had convened the hearing to determine if 

Lamplight, Nimitz, and Mellaconic had complied with the Third-Party Funding 

Order, I was now as concerned, if not more concerned, about whether Mr. Chong 

had acted consistent with the Rules of Professional Conduct and whether 

Mavexar-an entity I had never heard of-was the real party in interest in 

Lamplight's cases. 

IX. 

I next turned to the Nimitz cases and invited Mr. Pazuniak to the podium. 

This discussion ensued: 

MR. P AZUNIAK: Similar to Mr. Chong ... I was 
contacted by what I understood to be an agent for Nimitz 
Technologies. 

THE COURT: A nonlawyer agent, right? 

MR. PAZUNIAK: It's not a lawyer. It's a lady by the 
name of Linh Dietz, L-I-N-H D-I-T-Z. 

* * * * 
... [S]he was representing Nimitz Technologies. 

And she had provided the basic information. 
Thereafter, I did my own investigation, in the 

sense of double-checking the patent, double-checking the 
Nimitz Technology. For example, I did go to the Texas 
Secretary of State's [w]ebsite to gain the information 
about Nimitz Technology, and that's what I put down 
into the complaint. 

Similar, I went to the Delaware Secretary of 
State's office to obtain information on the defendants, 
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and making sure that the correct entities were named, 
correct spellings and correct addresses. 

The complaint was entirely drafted by me. 
Prior to that, we, of course, had the retainer 

agreement. Th[e} retainer agreement, again, I drafted. 
And it was forwarded to Linh Dietz, to forward to Mark 
Hall as the princip[al] of Nimitz Technologies. 

I knew that he was the princip[al] because of the­
I had double-checked the Secretary of State's office 
before I prepared the retainer letter. 

THE COURT: Okay. 

MR. P AZUNIAK: And-

THE COURT: So you knew he was the princip[al] based 
on the Secretary of State's disclosure-

MR. P AZUNIAK: And-

THE COURT: -he was the princip[al] ofNimitz? 

MR. PAZUNIAK: He is-Mr. Hall is the-I think 
that-I want to make sure I have the phrase right. He's 
the managing member of the entity. And it was 
confirmed by Ms. Dietz that he was the sole, 100 percent, 
owner of the entity. 

THE COURT: Okay. 

MR. P AZUNIAK: When Your Honor's order came out, 
again, I did the investigation. 

With respect to the funding in this litigation, I 
knew pretty much what the funding was, because the 
only funding that had been provided had been by myself, 
ormy firm. 
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THE COURT: Well, actually, can I stop you there? 
How did you know that? I mean, you obviously know 
whether you're providing funding or not. 

MR. P AZUNIAK: Yeah. 

THE COURT: How do you know there isn't some third 
party out there that's providing funding? 

MR. PAZUNIAK: Well, again-yes, I was getting to 
that. 

THE COURT: Oh, okay. So I thought you just said that 
you knew that, since you were the only funder. 

MR. P AZUNIAK: I should say that I knew that, what 
funding had been required, you know, for the filing of 
the-and maintaining of the lawsuits, and that had been 
provided by my firm as an advance. And we, of course, 
have a retainer agreement that required Nimitz 
Technology to be responsible for all costs. 

D.I. 26 at 41:24-44:13 (emphasis added). 

Mr. Pazuniak then appeared to suggest that Linh Dietz was 

somehow connected to Mavexar, the entity whose existence I had just 

learned of from Mr. Chong: 

MR. P AZUNIAK: Once Your Honor's question was 
brought up, I did consult with Ms. Dietz. She provided, 
to me, the agreement between Mavexar and the Nimitz 
Technology, which I double-checked and confirmed that 
any funds advanced by Mavexar are-would be the 
responsibility of Nimitz Technology. Which, of course, 
at that point, was kind of moot because, to my knowledge 
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in the litigation, no other funds had been expended, other 
than those that I-my firm had incurred. 

* * * * 
... I did go and check and there was no 

nonrecourse funding of any sort provided to Nimitz 
Technology, period. 

And this was-and, again, I'm trying to be very 
careful because we have attorney-client relationship 
issues. And-

THE COURT: Yeah. I don't know how you have 
attorney-client relationship issues if you 're dealing with 
the client through a nonlawyer third party. That, right 
away, I mean-and I'm willing to hear you. But that 
doesn 't sound right to me. 

Either you have that or, then, I think you have 
unauthorized practice of law issues that are arising 
perhaps in other states. 

MR. PAZUNIAK: Well, Your Honor, but there is 
communications between me and Mr. Hall, i.e. Nimitz. 

THE COURT: I hear you. I get that. 

MR. PAZUNIAK: And that's why I'm trying to be 
careful. 

THE COURT: Okay. 

MR. PAZUNIAK: When I say "confirmed," obviously, I 
did my due diligence in accordance with Rule 11 in 
making the representations. And-so I'm trying to be 
careful not to inadvertently, you know, create doubt on 
my ability to invoke the privilege. 

THE COURT: Sure. Okay. And that's fair. That's a 
good thing to be concerned about. 
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D.I. 26 at 44:14-22, 46:8-47:9 (emphasis added). 

Based on these representations from Mr. Pazuniak, I was concerned that, 

like Mr. Chong, Mr. Pazuniak may not have acted consistent with the Rules of 

Professional Conduct. Although Mr. Pazuniak stated, "[T]here is communications 

between me and Mr. Hall, i.e. Nimitz," his comments overall indicated that he 

communicated with Nimitz exclusively through Linh Dietz, whom Mr. Pazuniak 

had said was not a lawyer. D.I. 26 at 41:24-42:4, 46:22-23. That made me 

question, for example, how Mr. Pazuniak could fulfill his ethical obligation under 

Rule 1.4(b) to "explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the 

client to make informed decisions regarding the representation"; and how could he 

be confident that he had satisfied his professional obligations under Rule 1.2, 

which provides that "a lawyer shall abide by a client's decisions concerning the 

objectives of representation and, as required by Rule 1.4, shall consult with the 

client as to the means by which they are to be pursued"? MODEL RULES OF PRO. 

CONDUCT r. l.4(b), 1.2 (AM. BARASS'N 2022). 

Mr. Pazuniak's description of his dealings with Linh Dietz also raised 

questions about Mavexar's role in these cases. Was Mavexar, as opposed to 

Nimitz, the real client whose interests were being served by Mr. Pazuniak's firm? 

Finally, the question of IP Edge's role in these cases-the question that gave rise to 
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my concern that Nimitz had not complied with the Third-Party Funding Order­

remained. Linh Dietz seemed a logical candidate for the linhd@ip-edge.com email 

address used by Nimitz and Longbeam with the PTO. 

For these reasons, I told Mr. Pazuniak that "I'd like to have Mr. Hall take the 

stand." D.I. 26 at 49. Mr. Pazuniak replied, "Sure. Of course." D.I. 26 at 49: 12-

13. I made very clear the scope of my intended questioning of Mr. Hall; I stated: 

"I'd like to know about how he came to come in possession of this patent and 

Nimitz and its financial relationships." D.I. 26 at 49:17-19. This discussion 

followed: 

MR. PAZUNIAK: That's-Your Honor, the only 
request I would make is that the information be provided 
in a closed courtroom. This is information that is private. 
It's business related. It's-if we get in other situations, 
this kind of information would be subject to a protective 
order. 

* * * * 
I'm not asking the Court to be precluded from 

pursuing its intended line of inquiry .... 
. . . And I just want to make sure that, as we go 

forward, we're not waiving any rights. And therefore, I 
do formally request that because the questions and 
answers may involve matters of personal privacy and 
business arrangements that are not public, and have 
always been intended to be kept confidential, that the 
information be heard in a closed courtroom. 

THE COURT: All right. So I think the way we'll 
address that is, let's take it on a question-by-question 
basis. 
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MR. PAZUNIAK: Okay. 

THE COURT: And, you know, you can make an 
objection or ask, if I put to the witness a certain question, 
you can stand up and say you think this implicates some 
kind of interest that would be sufficient under Third 
Circuit law. 

Which you should make sure you've read Third 
Circuit law. It is very, very hard to keep something 
under seal in the Third Circuit, and it's the Third Circuit 
that governs. 

D.I. 26 at 49:20-25, 50:12-13, 50:18-51:12. 

After a short break, Mr. Hall took the stand. I asked him some general 

background questions and then turned to the subject of Nimitz: 

Q. Well, what does Nimitz do? 

A. Nimitz monetizes patents. 

Q. What does that mean, to "monetize[] patents"? 

A. Make money off of existing patents. 

Q. How many patents does Nimitz own? 

A. I don't know offhand. I'd have to look back at the 
paperwork. 

* * * * 
Q. Nimitz owns the patent that's been asserted in these 
cases; is that right? 

A. Correct. 

* * * * 
Q. How did you come to acquire the [#]328 patent? 
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A. I was presented an opportunity. 

Q. Bywhom? 

A. Mavexar. 

Q. Who is Mavexar? 

A. As an entity? I'm not sure what you mean. 

Q. Well, you're the one who used the phrase. So what 
did you mean when you said you were presented an 
opportunity by Mavexar. I'm just following up on your 
question, sir. 

A. Okay. Consulting agency. 

* * * * 
Q. Consulting agency that does what? 

A. My understanding is they look for patents. 

Q. How did you first learn ofMavexar? 

A. I was presented an opportunity by Mavexar and we 
discussed what they did, and what the opportunity would 
entail. 

Q. Where did that presentation of the opportunity occur? 

A. Over the phone. 

Q. Whom did you speak with? 

A. Linh Dietz. 

* * * * 
Q. How did you pay for the [#328] patent? 
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A. There was an agreement between Mavexar and 
myself where I would assume liability. 

Q. What does that mean? 

A. No money exchanged hands from my end. 

Q. You have to-I'm not a financial guy, so you have to 
explain it to me. 

So you own the patent, but no money-you didn't 
exchange any money for it? 

A. No. 

Q. So is that what you're saying? 

A. Yes. 

Q. So how do you come to own something if you never 
paid for it with money? 

A. I wouldn't be able to explain it very well. That would 
be a better question for Mavexar. 

Q. Well, you're the owner? 

A. Correct. 

Q. How do you know you 're the owner if you didn't pay 
anything for the patent? 

A. Because I have the paperwork that says I'm the 
owner. 

* * * * 
Q. Now, you said that you would assume liability for the 
patent, is that right, when you took ownership of it? 

A. Correct. 
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Q. What does that mean? 

A. Liability in case of-any monetary liability from a 
case that did not proceed well. 

Q. So is it your understanding, then, if, in this case, for 
instance, the Court assigned-or awarded attorney fees to 
the other side, that you personally would have to pay for 
them; is that right? 

A. I believe that's true, yes. 

Q. Do you have the documents with you today­

A. I do not. 

Q. -that reflect your assumption of ownership of the 
[#]328 patent? 

A. I do not. 

D.I. 26 at 65:14-20, 66:2-4, 67:25-68:10, 68:14-23, 69:16-70:11, 

71:8-23 (emphasis added). 

At this point, Mr. Pazuniak handed up copies of a "Patent Assignment 

Agreement" and its "Exhibit A," which is a "Patent Assignment" that looks to be 

identical to the assignment my law clerk had found on the PTO's patent 

assignment database for the #328 patent. Under the terms of the assignment, 

Burley Licensing, "[f]or good and valuable consideration," "assign[ed], 

transfer[red], and convey[ed]" to Nimitz ... "all right, title, and interest that exist 
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today and may exist in the future in and to" the #328 patent. Nov. 4, 2022 Hr' g, 

Patent Assignment Agreement, Ex. A at 1. I noted to Mr. Hall that the assignment 

identified Hau Bui as the managing member of Burley and asked him if he knew 

Mr. Bui. He replied, "I do not." D.I. 26 at 72:8-11. 

The remainder ofmy questioning of Mr. Hall reads in relevant part: 

Q. So the Exhibit A to the assignment says that "For 
good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is 
hereby acknowledged, the patent is transferred to you." 
What was the good and valuable consideration you 
received? 

A. I'm not sure what you mean there. 

Q. Or I should say, rather, what is the good and valuable 
consideration you paid for the patent? 

MR. P AZUNIAK: Objection. 

BY THE COURT: 
Q. Do you understand what good and valuable 
consideration is? 

A. I believe I understand what you're asking. And the­

Q. Well, put it in your own words. What do you think 
that means? What does "consideration" mean? 

A. I would think-I think you mean some kind of 
payment. 

Q. Right. And so what did you pay them that persuaded 
somebody to give you the patent? 
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A. My understanding of what it is, it's a business 
opportunity presented to me from Mavexar, similar to 
when I retained a management company for my rental 
properties. I don't know the renters. I don't deal with 
the renters. They do. That's the agreement that we have. 
If there's proceeds to be made, there's an agreement 
between us as to what we split. If there's losses incurred, 
it's my property, I pay for the losses, similar to this. 

Q. Okay. And how much, then-well, then, is it your 
understanding that the revenue, the money that will be 
made from the patent, will be obtained through litigation 
of the patent; is that fair? 

A. Yes. 

Q. What percentage of the litigation do you recover for 
assuming all this liability? 

A. I believe it's 10 percent. 

Q. So you're the owner of the patent, but you only get 
one-tenth of it? 

A. Correct. 

Q. Well, did anyone explain to you why Mavexar wanted 
you to assume liability for the patent? 

A. No one explained it, no. 

Q. Do you have an understanding as to why you 're 
assuming liability for the patent if you only would 
share-or obtain JO percent of the proceeds from it? 

A. No. I viewed it as an investment, just like stocks. 
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Q. Were you involved in the litigation decisions in the 
cases that are filed that assert the patent? 

A. No. 

Q. And is it your understanding that all the litigation 
decisions are made by the lawyers and Mavexar? 

A. Correct. 

* * * * 
Q. Have you ever heard of IP Edge? 

A. I have. 

Q. What do you know about it? 

A. Notmuch. 

Q. Have you ever had any interactions with IP Edge? 

A. Other than Linh Ditz's e-mail address, no. 

Q. And that's the only knowledge you have of IP Edge, 
is the fact that she has an IP Edge e-mail address; is that 
right? 

A. Correct. Correct. 

* * * * 
Q. And you mentioned you didn 't have any involvement 
in the litigation decisions. So do you have prior 
know ledge of the filing of complaints? 

A. No. 

Q. Do you have any prior knowledge of any settlements 
reached in litigation filed-

A. No. 
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Q. -to assert the patent-let me­

A. Sorry. 

Q. I'm sorry. That's all right. Do you have any prior 
knowledge of settlements that are reached in litigation in 
which Nimitz patents are asserted? 

A. No. 

Q. So you 're just told after the fact? 

A. Correct. 

Q. So from your perspective, this is purely an investment 
opportunity, fair? 

A. Fair. 

Q. And although you are in name the owner of the 
patent, you defer solely to Mavexar and the lawyers to 
make all the decisions associated with how the patent is 
asserted and how cases are settled, fair? 

A. Correct. 

Q. And that's really the motivation for you as an 
investor, fair? 

A. Correct. 

* * * * 
Q. Has Nimitz received any money from settlements 
relating to its patents? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Approximately how much? 
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A. $4,000. 

Q. In total? 

A. (Witness nods head.) 

D.I. 26 at 72:25-75:2, 75:18-76:2, 76:13-77:14, 82:19-25 (emphasis added). 

By the time Mr. Hall's testimony concluded, my concerns about whether 

Mr. Pazuniak had acted consistent with the Rules of Professional Conduct had only 

grown. Mr. Pazuniak was the only lawyer representing Nimitz in these cases; Mr. 

Hall was the only owner and the only identified member of Nimitz. And yet Mr. 

Pazuniak had apparently had no communications with Mr. Hall before the cases 

were filed and had had no communications with Mr. Hall about settling the seven 

Nimitz cases Mr. Pazuniak had moved to voluntarily dismiss between December 

14, 2021 and April 27, 2022. See Civ. No. 21-1246, D.I. 10; Civ. No. 21-1364, 

D.I. 8; Civ. No. 21-1249, D.I. 11; Civ. No. 21-1248, D.I. 10; Civ. No. 21-1360, 

D.I. 10; Civ. No. 21-1856, D.I. 9; Civ. No. 21-1363, D.I. 15. Under Model Rule 

1.2, the "decision[ ] ... whether to settle a civil matter, must ... be made by the 

client." MODEL RULES OF PRO. CONDUCT r. 1.2 cmt. (AM. BAR Ass 'N 2022). But 

according to Mr. Hall, Mavexar and lawyers selected by Mavexar made all the 

decisions associated with how the #328 patent was asserted and how cases were 

settled. Mr. Hall learned of settlements only "after the fact." D.I. 26 at 77:2-3. 
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It also appeared from Mr. Hall's testimony that Mavexar, not Nimitz, 

controlled the #328 patent, and that Nimitz did not in fact possess "all right, title, 

and interest" to the #328 patent as had been represented in the assignment filed 

with the PTO. No doubt the assignment identified Nimitz as the assignee of the 

patent. But the assignment was filed by someone using what appeared to be Linh 

Dietz's IP-Edge email account; Linh Dietz acted on behalf ofMavexar in 

arranging for Mr. Hall to authorize Nimitz to appear as the assignee on the 

assignment; Mr. Hall said Nimitz had paid nothing for the assignment of the 

patent; the named assignor of the patent was not known by Mr. Hall but was 

connected to IP Edge and apparently to Linh Dietz; Nimitz received only 10% of 

any revenue generated by the patent; and Nimitz played no role in the decisions 

associated with asserting the #328 patent in and settling lawsuits. These facts 

suggested that the assignment of the #328 patent could very well be a fiction, and 

that frauds may have been perpetrated on the PTO and this Court. 

I thought those possibilities seemed even more likely after hearing the 

testimony of the next witness, Hau Bui. 

X. 

Hau Bui's story was similar in important ways to Mark Hall's. The owner 

and operator of a food truck and of what he described as a "fried chicken joint," 
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Mr. Bui agreed to become the sole owner ofMellaconic to take advantage of"an 

opportunity" offered to him by the seemingly ubiquitous Linh Dietz. D.I. 26 at 

86:1-2, 87:2-12. As far as Mr. Bui knew, Mavexar formed Mellaconic for him in 

2020. D.I. 26 at 90:9-11. Like Mr. Hall, who said he "wouldn't be able to explain 

[Nimitz's acquisition of its patent without an upfront payment] very well" and that 

my inquiry on the subject "would be a better question for Mavexar," Mr. Bui 

struggled to explain how and why Mellaconic was able to obtain patents without 

paying for them. And like Mr. Hall, Mr. Bui essentially acknowledged that he 

rubber stamped "approvals" of Mavexar' s decisions to file and settle lawsuits 

asserting patents putatively titled in Mellaconic' s name. 

After asking Mr. Bui briefly about his background, I turned to the subject of 

Mellaconic: 

Q. What does Mellaconic do? 

A. Yeah. Mellaconic owns patents, the rights to patents. 

Q. All right. How many patents? 

A. I believe six. 

Q. And what types of patents? 

A. I haven't really looked over them. 

Q. Okay. How much did you pay for the patents? 
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A. I didn't pay for the patents. 

Q. So how do you come to own patents if you don't pay 
for them? 

A. I was-came up-someone pushed me with the 
opportunity, selling the patents. 

Q. Who was that? Mellaconic? 

A. Mellaconic-no, Mavexar. Sorry. 

Q. Mavexar. Well, how did you come in touch with 
Mavexar? 

A. Linh. 

Q. Is this Linh Dietz? 

A. Linh Dietz. 

Q. How do you know her? 

A. She's a friend. 

Q. When did she first approach you about this idea of 
assuming ownership of patents? 

A. I believe in 2020, right when the pandemic hit. 

Q. And what did she tell you? 

A. She just came up to me and just told me if I would 
like an opportunity to deal with patents and make passive 
mcome. 

* * * * 
Q. So ... make a passive income. What does that mean? 
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A. Like, income. Coming in without, you know-I 
don't know how to describe it. Just like, kind of like-

Q. How about this? You don't have to do anything; is 
that fair? 

A. Yeah, you don't have to do much, yeah. 

Q. Well, what do you have to do? 

A. As far as? 

Q. As far as getting ownership of patents. I assume the 
patents are worth something, in your mind? 

Do you think the patents are worth anything? 

A. Yes. 

Q. All right. Do you have any sense of how much 
they're worth? 

A. I'm not an expert in patents. I wouldn't know. 

Q. Well, did Ms. Dietz or anyone else, when you took 
ownership of the patents, give you any sense of what they 
thought the patents were worth? 

A. No. 

Q. Did you have to give up anything in order to assume 
ownership of the patents? 

A. No, sir. 

Q. Did you have to take on any responsibilities to 
assume ownership of the patents? 
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A. As far as, just like, viewing the litigations and 
everything that come through. 

Q. Oh, so you do review the litigations? 

A. Yeah. 

Q. Tell me about what you do in that regard? 

A. So Mavexar will send me the litigations of what's 
going on or the, you know, attorney engagements. And 
then I, essentially, if I sign-I approve of them or 
disapprove of them. 

Q. How do you know whether to approve or disapprove 
of an attorney? 

A. I mean, I chose Mavexar and they're-they're-what 
is it?-they're good. Like, you know, they haven't done 
me wrong. 

D.I. 26 at 86:18-87:21, 88:2-89:14. 

I then turned to how Mellaconic and Mr. Bui were compensated for efforts 

to monetize the patents assigned to Mellaconic: 

Q. Well, so do you get a share, then, of lawsuits or 
settlements that are brought using these six patents? 

Is that how you make money, passive income, as 
you call it? 

A. Yeah. 

Q. About how much income have you made so far? 

A. Year to date? 

53 

Case 1:22-cv-00413-CFC   Document 23   Filed 11/30/22   Page 55 of 80 PageID #: 349



Q. Well, when did Mellaconic buy its first-or not 
buy-when did it assume ownership of its first patent, if 
you remember? 

A. I can't remember off the top of my head. 

Q. Was it last year or the year before? 

A. I know it was formed in 2020, so ... 

Q. What's Mellaconic mean, as a name? 

A. It's just a name. 

Q. I mean, whose idea was the name? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. You don't know? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Were you, basically, just provided the paperwork to 
form the LLC? 

A. Yes. They formed the LLC for me. 

Q. And so did they come up with the name? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Have you ever-has Mellaconic sold any patents? 

A. Sold any patents? No. 

Q. Has it assigned any patents to anybody else? 

A. As far as license-licensing? 
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Q. Licensing? Okay. Has it licensed patents to other 
people? 

A. They have licensed to, like, other companies to use 
them. 

Q. Okay. Do you get a share of those proceeds? 

A. From what the settlement-from the litigations, I do. 

Q. So is it fair to say, the licensing have all occurred in 
connection with litigation? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. And you get a share of that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. What's your share? 

A. With? 

Q. Of the litigation or settlements. 
What's your share? Do you get a percentage 

share? 

A. Percentage. 

Q. And what is it? 

MR. WERNOW: Objection, Your Honor. Just 
confidential business information. 

THE COURT: Go ahead. 

THE WITNESS: 5 percent. 
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D.I. 26 at 89:15-91:14. 

Mr. Wernow was not an attorney of record when he made this objection; nor 

had he ever sought to be admitted pro hac vice to appear as Mellaconic' s counsel 

in the cases at issue in the November 4 hearing. Accordingly, I ignored the 

objection. (I would nonetheless have overruled the objection even if it had been 

made by counsel of record. Mr. Wernow cited and I know ofno legal authority 

that would bar a court from requesting Mr. Bui under the circumstances presented 

here to disclose the percentage he received from the settlements obtained by 

Mavexar and the attorneys it hired putatively on Mellaconic's behalf.) 

Mellaconic' s counsel of record in the two Mellaconic cases involved in the 

November 4 hearing (the 22-244 and 22-541 actions) were Mr. Chong and Andrew 

Curfman. Mr. Curfman had been admitted pro hac vice, but he was unable to 

attend the November 4 hearing for health reasons. Messrs. Curfman and Wernow 

are partners in the law firm of Sand, Sebolt & Wemow Co., LPA. Mr. Curfman 

had been admitted pro hac vice to represent Mellaconic in 11 of the 19 related 

cases filed by Mellaconic. Importantly, as I will later explain, counsel had filed 

motions to voluntarily dismiss ten of those cases before I issued my order 

convening the November 4 hearing. 
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Having learned that Mellaconic received only 5% of the proceeds from any 

litigation brought in its name, I turned next to what role Mellaconic played in those 

litigations: 

Q .... Now, before a lawsuit is brought, do you read the 
complaint? 

A. What was that? 

Q. Before a lawsuit is brought-tell me how it comes to 
be, the fact that a lawsuit is brought by Mellaconic? 
How does it work? 

A. So they will meet with the documentations, and I 
have to review the documentations, and then I either 
approve it or deny it. 

Q. Have you ever denied it? 

A. No. 

Q. Okay. And who sends you the documentation? Is it 
Mavexar? 

A. Mavexar, yes. 

Q. Have you ever had an attorney represent you in any 
of these litigations? 

A. What's that? 

Q. Have you ever had an attorney represent you, to your 
knowledge, in these litigations? 

A. I mean, like, with the Mellaconic? Yeah. 
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Q. Okay. And what attorneys have represented 
Mellaconic? 

A. Sand Sebolt, as far as I know. 

Q. Anybody else? 

A. I would have to go back and look. 

Q. Okay. And that would be-would that be Mr. 
Curfman? 

A. What was the name again? 

Q. Andrew Curfman; is that right? 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. You to have say it. 

A. Yes. Sorry. 

Q. No, that's all right. No problem. So have you ever 
met Mr. Curfman? 

A. Yes, virtually. 

Q. Virtually. 
When did you first meet him? 

A. Probably two months ago. 

Q. So that's after [the] lawsuits ha[d] been filed? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Have you ever had any communications with Mr. 
Curfman? I don't need to know what they are. But ha[d] 
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you ever had any communications with Mr. Curfman 
before two months ago? 

A. No. 

Q. So how was he retained to represent Mellaconic? 

A. Through Mavexar. 

Q. So you didn't have any discussions with him. 
Mavexar handled all the negotiations with Mr. Curfman; 
is that right? 

A. Yeah. On my behalf, yes. 

D.I. 26 at 91:17-93:18. 

I then returned to the issue of how Mellaconic acquired its patents: 

Q. So I want you to try to help me understand this idea 
that you can take ownership of a patent without paying 
for it. 

You know, normally, when you get something of 
value-you think these patents have value, don't you? 

A. Yes. 

Q. All right. So normally, when you get something of 
value, you have to pay something for it? 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. Do you agree with that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. So what did you have to pay to take on these patents? 
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A. With the previous owners? 

Q. The patents that you own now. What did you have to 
give up in value for you to be able to assume ownership 
of these patents? 

A. I didn't give nothing. 

Q. You didn't give them anything. So were they a gift? 

A. No. It's-

Q. So what's the-then help me. I'm just trying to 
understand this concept. 

If it's not a gift, you're not paying anything, why is 
someone giving you these patents? 

A. You would have to ask Mavexar that. 

Q. Did you take on any liability as a result of assuming 
ownership of the patents? 

A. What do you mean by "liability"? 

Q. Well, so you don't know? 

A. What's that? 

Q. You don't know what "liability" means? 

A. I mean, I have a general idea, but. .. 

Q. Was there any risk that you assumed when you 
assumed ownership of the patents? 

A. Oh, there's always a risk in everything. 

Q. So what's the risk? 
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A. I mean, if things fall through, then I would have to 
come out of pocket. 

Q. And what kind of things would you have to come out 
of pocket, is your understanding? 

A. So if, like, litigation goes wrong, Mavexar has the 
right to come after me for the costs of what was loaned. 

* * * * 
Q. Who pays for the lawyer fees to go out and sue 
people 
using the patents owned by Mellaconic? 

A. Mavexar. 

Q. And what is-do they loan you the money for that? 

A. Yes. It's a recourse. 

Q. What do you mean by "recourse"? 

A. Like a loan. 

Q. Well, how did you come up with the terms 
"recourse"? 
I'm just-what does that mean? 

A. All I know is it's like a loan. 

* * * * 
Q. . . . Have you ever had to pay any expenses associated 
with any litigation for Mellaconic? 

A. Have I ever paid any litigation expenses, no. 

Q. Okay. And have you-again, apologize, if I asked 
you. But have you-has Mellaconic ever made any 
money from any of the patents it's owned? 
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A. From the litigations? 

Q. Yes. 

A. Yes. 

Q. And how much, about, is that? 

A. I want to say-I don't know top of my head. 
11,000, maybe. 

Q. Okay. And then you also mentioned licensing that 
came out of settlements. Does that include-is that part 
of the 11,000, or is that different? 

A. That's just with the settlement. That's what I've 
gotten. 

Q. So the total you've gotten, is it fair to say­

A. Yes, 11,000 or so. 

Q. All right. And is it all through settlements that were 
connected with litigation? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. Do you know how much other people get? 
You know what you get, right? Do you know how the 95 
percent is broken up, who gets it? 

A. I do not know the exact, who gets, you know, 
percentage. 

Q. No? 
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A. Well, I know that the-like the back-end pay to the 
previous patent owners. 

D.I. 26 at 93:22-95:12, 96:8-17, 98:3-99:9. 

I then asked Mr. Bui about assigning patents. Mr. Bui testified that he did 

not recall ever signing documents to transfer any ofMellaconic's patents to 

another entity or person. D.I. 26 at 99: 17-20. He also testified that the name Mark 

Hall "doesn't ring a bell." D.I. 26 at 99:15. 

I concluded my questioning of Mr. Bui as follows: 

Q. Is it fair to say that your involvement in all the 
litigation was performed through Mavexar? 

A. Mavexar. 

Q. Mavexar. Sorry. 

A. Yes. 

Q. Thank you very much [for correcting my 
pronunciation of Mavexar]. 

That would be fair? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And, basically, is it fair to say that you do whatever 
they advise? 

A. Yes. 

Q. You don't have any other knowledge to challenge any 
of their advice; is that fair? 
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A. Yeah. They've been doing it. I don't have any 
knowledge to object against them. 

* * * * 
Q. And you mentioned you met Mr. Curfman about two 
months ago remotely? 

A. Remotely, yeah. 

Q. Yeah. I don't want to know about the conversation 
you had with him, the specifics, but why did you not 
meet him until two months ago? 
What was it that prompted the meeting two months ago? 

A. This hearing. 

Q. Is it fair to say that you're aware that there was an 
order issued by the Court that required you to participate 
here? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Was that what prompted the meeting? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay. And prior to that, you had -- fair to say, you 
had had no discussions with Mr. Curfman; is that fair? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Had you had any discussions with anybody from Mr. 
Curfman's law firm prior to that meeting? 

A. No. 

D.I. 26 at 99:21-100:10, 101:7-102:1. 
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As Mr. Bui walked away from the witness stand, he was approached by Mr. 

Wernow. The two men engaged in a brief conversation during which Mr. Wernow 

appeared to show Mr. Bui some documents. D.I. 26 at 102. Mr. Wernow then 

turned to ask me ifhe could "put Mr. Bui back on the stand just to correct a 

statement?" D .I. 26 at 102: 16-19. I told Mr. W ernow that since he was not an 

attorney of record, he could not do that. D.I. 26 at 102:11-13. (I had no 

knowledge at the time that Mr. Wernow had represented Mellaconic in some of the 

related cases.) Mr. Chong then handed up a motion to admit Mr. Wernow pro hac 

vice, which I reviewed and granted. D.I. 26 at 102:20-103 :4. I then asked Mr. Bui 

to retake the stand and allowed Mr. Wernow to question him. 

Mr. Wernow began by handing Mr. Bui a Patent Assignment Agreement 

executed by Mellaconic and Empire Technology Development LLC on August 10, 

2020-the month before Mr. Chong filed the first Mellaconic case in this Court. 

See Civ. No. 20-1323, D.I. 1. Under the terms of the agreement, Empire 

Technology assigned to Mellaconic "all right, title, and interest" to six patents, 

including the #435 patent asserted by Mellaconic in its 19 cases filed by Mr. 

Chong. Nov. 4, 2022 Hr'g, Ex. 2 at 1. The Agreement appeared to have been 

signed by Mr. Bui on behalf ofMellaconic. Nov. 4, 2022 Hr'g, Ex. 2 at 11. The 
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email address given for Mr. Bui in the agreement is info@ip-edge.com. Nov. 4, 

2022 Hr' g, Ex. 2 at 9. 

Mr. Wernow then said, "I just wanted to clarify some things I heard when 

you were speaking with his Honor earlier," and began to walk Mr. Bui through the 

document. D .I. 26 at 103 :21-104 :2. I interjected and the following ensued: 

THE COURT: 
So actually, I'm going to object to leading questions. I 
mean, if you want to make attorney argument, you can 
bring the documents up, and you can show me and make 
your argument. 

But one of the important reasons why I wanted to 
have a hearing, is to find out the reality, and find out who 
really is the beneficial owner, who's got the real interest 
in the litigation. And the best answers you get are 
from-the most truthful answer you get to things like that 
are open-ended questions. I don't want you to walk this 
witness through a legal document. 

MR. WERNOW: Sure. 

THE COURT: All right. And I can read the legal 
document. 

MR. WERNOW: Sure. Can we just ask-

BY MR. WERNOW: 
Q. In reviewing Page 2-or Section 3, the 
considerations section of Exhibit 2, can you please tell 
the Court how Mellaconic has paid for these patents? 

THE COURT: I don't need that. I can read the 
document. You want to ask him open-ended questions, 
go ahead. Ask him what he remembers. Ask him what 
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he knows. Ask him his understanding. Let's not have 
him go read a document. 

MR. WERNOW: Sure. 

BY MR. WERNOW: 
Q. What do you remember about this patent purchase 
agreement, Mr. Bui? 

A. There was 50 percent take back towards the previous. 

Q. For consideration? 

A. For consideration of the net proceeds. 

D.I. 26 at 104:3-105:8. 

With this answer, Mr. Wemow ended his questioning of Mr. Bui about the 

Patent Assignment Agreement and what Mellaconic paid for the six patents Mr. 

Bui said it owned. The provision in the Patent Assignment Agreement Mr. 

Wemow wanted Mr. Bui to repeat in Court reads: "As consideration, [Mellaconic] 

shall pay [Empire] fifty percent (50%) of the Net Proceeds received by 

[Mellaconic] as a result of enforcement ofthe" six patents covered by the 

agreement. Nov. 4, 2022 Hr'g, Ex. 2 at 2. 

The exchange between Mr. Wemow and Mr. Bui, in my mind, raised more 

questions than it answered. It certainly did not leave me confident that Mr. Bui 

understood the meaning or effect of the provision; nor did it explain or give reason 

to disregard Mr. Bui's earlier testimony that he "didn't give nothing" to assume 
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ownership of the patents titled in Mellaconic's name and that Mellaconic received 

only 5% of the revenue generated from asserting in litigation the patents it 

purportedly had "all right, title, and interest" in. Mr. Bui had already testified that 

some portion of the 95% of the litigation proceeds that Mellaconic did not receive 

went to a prior owner of the asserted patent. 

Mr. Wernow then turned to a Consulting Agreement he had handed Mr. Bui. 

The Consulting Agreement was executed by Mellaconic and Mavexar on August 

11, 2020. Under the heading "Responsibilities," the Consulting Agreement states 

that Mavexar 

shall provide non-legal services, including one or more of 
the following: (a) identify companies that potentially 
infringe on the rights covered by the patents owned by 
[Mellaconic] ("the Patents"), (b) assist [Mellaconic] in 
monetizing the Patents; ( c) assist in identifying products 
and/or services covered by the Patents; ( d) select and 
negotiate rates to enable retention of counsel; and ( e) 
manage counsel as necessary during the course of 
litigation and licensing efforts. 

Nov. 4, 2022 Hr' g, Ex. 3 at § 1. The Agreement provides that "[i]n exchange for 

the services provided by [Mavexar]," Mellaconic agrees to pay Mavexar an 

unidentified percentage of the "Net Proceeds," which the agreement defines as 

"Gross Recovery minus Costs and Expenses." Nov. 4, 2022 Hr'g, Ex. 3 at§ 2. 

The agreement defines "Gross Recovery" as "the gross amount of any monies and 
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other forms of consideration received through monetization of the Patents" and 

further provides that "Gross Recovery shall include, without limitation, any and all 

settlement fees, licensing fees, fees from a sale, or other payment from other 

transactions, as well as, any other proceeds (including assets) related to the 

Patents." Nov. 4, 2022 Hr'g, Ex. 3 at§ 2. 

The Consulting Agreement also provides that 

[f]or all Costs and Expenses relating to the monetization 
of the Patents, [Mavexar] shall advance such Costs and 
Expenses as one or more loans to [Mellaconic]. Such 
loans are reimbursable from Gross Recovery. In the 
event any such loan is not paid back in full from Gross 
Recovery, [Mellaconic] shall be responsible for full 
payment of all such loans. If [Mellaconic] fails to make 
such payment within 3 0 days following the termination 
of the final litigation filed pursuant to this Agreement, 
[Mavexar] shall have all available recourse pursuant to 
law to obtain recovery for such loans. 

Further, upon execution of this agreement, [Mellaconic] 
hereby grants to [Mavexar] a lien on any Gross 
Recovery, to the full extent permitted by Texas law, to 
secure [Mavexar' s] Costs and Expenses reimbursable in 
accordance with this agreement. 

Nov. 4, 2022 Hr'g, Ex. 3 at§ 3. And finally, the Consulting Agreement states that 

[Mellaconic] is the sole owner and final decision maker 
on any and all decisions relating, either directly or 
indirectly, to the prosecution, litigation, licensing, and, 
more generally, monetization of the Patents. 

Nov. 4, 2022 Hr'g, Ex. 3 at§ 3. 
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Mr. Wernow asked Mr. Bui, "What's your recollection of [the Consulting 

Agreement] with respect to the recourse base repayment?" Mr. Bui answered: "So 

Mavexar basically pays for the litigations of the-fees for litigations. And then if 

all goes wrong, they have the right to come after me for the litigation fees." D.I. 

26 at 105:10-17. 

Mr. Wernow then ended his examination of Mr. Bui as follows: 

Q. What do you do for Mellaconic IP, LLC, when you 
receive a complaint? 

A. I review it and I either confirm it or deny it. 

Q. And you can deny it, correct? 

A. I can deny it. 

D.I. 26 at 106:21-25. 

Neither this line of questioning nor the Consulting Agreement assuaged my 

concerns about the conduct of the lawyers before me and the role Mavexar was 

playing in the cases filed by.Messrs. Pazuniak and Chong. Mr. Bui may have said 

in response to Mr. Wernow's leading question that he could "deny" "a complaint" 

he received from Mavexar and the Consulting Agreement may have stated that 

Mellaconic "was the final decision maker" on all decisions relating to the 

monetization of the patents titled in Mellaconic's name, but Mr. Bui's testimony as 

a whole seemed to make clear that he did not "have any knowledge to object 
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against" Mavexar' s advice and that he understood his role was as a "passive" 

rubber stamper of whatever Mavexar put in front of him. 

Equally, if not more, troubling was Mr. Bui's testimony about his 

communications ( or lack of communications) with the lawyers selected by 

Mavexar to represent Mellaconic. It was now undisputed that Mavexar was paying 

Mellaconic's attorney fees upfront. Mr. Bui had testified that he had had no 

communications with the lawyers selected by Mavexar to represent Mellaconic 

until after I had issued the September 2022 orders convening the November 4 

hearing. But by the time I issued those orders, Messrs. Chong and Curfman had 

already filed voluntary motions to dismiss ten of Mellaconic' s cases. (I would 

learn after the hearing that Mr. Wernow had been admitted pro hac vice to 

represent Mellaconic in six of the 19 related cases filed by Mellaconic and that 

counsel had moved to dismiss those six cases on or before November 2021.) 

Model Rule l.8(f) narrowly defines when an attorney may accept third-party 

payment for representing a client. It provides that 

[a] lawyer shall not accept compensation for representing 
a client from one other than the client unless: 

(1) the client gives informed consent; 10 

10 Informed consent refers to "the agreement by a person to a proposed course of 
conduct after the lawyer has communicated adequate information and explanation 
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(2) there is no interference with the lawyer's 
independence of professional judgment or with the 
client-lawyer relationship; and 
(3) information relating to representation of a 
client is protected as required by Rule 1.6 
[Confidentiality of Information]. 

MODEL RULES OF PRO. CONDUCT r. l.8(f) (AM. BARAss'N 2022) (emphasis 

added). These rigid requirements are critical "[b ]ecause third-party payers 

frequently have interests that differ from those of the client .... " Id. at r. 1.8(f) 

cmt. Thus, "lawyers are prohibited from accepting or continuing such 

representations unless the lawyer determines that there will be no interference with 

the lawyer's independent professional judgment and there is informed consent 

from the client." Id. ( emphasis added). 

Like Mr. Hall in Nimitz's cases, Mr. Bui appeared to have had no 

communication with Mellaconic' s lawyers before the complaints were filed, before 

settlements were reached, and before voluntary dismissals of the cases were filed 

in this Court. D.I. 26 at 91 :17-93:18, 101 :7-102:3. I did not, and do not as of this 

date, understand how, in the absence of direct communication with Mr. Bui, 

Mellaconic' s lawyers could have determined that Mellaconic gave informed 

about the material risks of and reasonably available alternatives to the proposed 
course of conduct." MODEL RULES OF PRO. CONDUCT r. l.0(e) (AM. BARASS'N 
2022). 
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consent to the initiation and settlement of the lawsuits brought in Mellaconic' s 

name in this Court. For that reason, I was and remain concerned that Messrs. 

Chong and Curfman (and now, Wernow) did not act consistent with their 

professional obligations under the Model Rules. 

The Consulting Agreement also added to my concerns about Mavexar' s role 

in these cases and whether the assignment of the #328 patent to Nimitz recorded in 

the PTO was a fiction. The Consulting Agreement between Mavexar and 

Mellaconic looks to be a form agreement, and it provides that "the Client"-in this 

case, Mellaconic-"agrees to maintain clear and exclusive title to the Patents, and 

not incur any liens, encumbrances, or third[-]party claims with respect to the 

Patents." Nov. 4, 2022 Hr'g, Ex. 3 at§ 1. IfNimitz had a similar provision in its 

agreement with Mavexar, that provision would seem to call into question the 

validity of the assignment filed by an IP Edge email accountholder in the PTO that 

purported to transfer to Nimitz all right, title, and interest in the #328 patent. 

XI. 

I made this statement at the conclusion of the November 4 hearing: 

I think the testimony has to give pause to anybody who 
really is concerned about the integrity of our judicial 
system, the abuse of our courts, and potential abuse, lack 
of transparency as to who the real parties before the 
Court are, about who is making decisions in these types 
of litigation. But it's a lot to digest, and I may ask for 
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supplemental briefing. I'm actually considering inviting 
amici to come in to help. And I would be open to 
receiving recommendations for amici. 

. . . If you have any recommendations for amici, 
please submit them no later than a week from today. 
And the cases are going to remain where they are, as I 
consider these issues. 

D .I. 26 at 107: 14-108 :3. I did not think it necessary to repeat at the hearing's 

conclusion the concerns I had raised earlier in the hearing about whether counsel 

had acted consistent with the Rules of Professional Conduct. 

Believing that I needed more information to decide whether further action 

was warranted to address these concerns and also to address counsel's admitted 

failures to comply at the very least with the Disclosure Order, if not also the Third­

Party Funding Order, I issued on November 10 the Memorandum Order. 

The Memorandum Order requires Nimitz, Mark Hall, and Mr. Pazuniak's 

firm to "produce to the Court" (1) their communications with Mavexar and IP 

Edge regarding (a) Nimitz's formation, acquisition of patents, and potential 

liability for asserting those patents in these cases, (b) the #3 28 patent, and ( c) the 

initiation and settlement of the cases Nimitz filed in this Court; (2) retention letters 

and/or agreements between Nimitz and Mr. Pazuniak's firm; (3) monthly bank 

statements for any and all bank accounts held by Nimitz for the time period during 

which it filed the 11 complaints asserting infringement of the #328 patent in this 
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Court; and (4) documents relating to Nimitz's use, lease, purchase, and/or retention 

of 3333 Preston Road, STE 300, #1047, Frisco, TX 75034-the address alleged in 

Nimitz's complaints to be its principal office. The Memorandum also requires 

Mark Hall to submit an affidavit in which he identifies the assets owned by Nimitz 

as of the dates it filed the complaints in these four actions. 

Notably, the Memorandum Order does not require Nimitz to docket these 

records or otherwise make them public. Thus, Nimitz is free to submit and to 

publicly file at the time of its production of the records in question an assertion that 

the records are covered by the attorney-client privilege and/or work product 

doctrine and a request that for that reason ( and perhaps other reasons) the Court 

maintain the records under seal. 

The records sought are all manifestly relevant to addressing the concerns I 

raised during the November 4 hearing. Lest there be any doubt, those concerns 

are: Did counsel comply with the Rules of Professional Conduct? Did counsel and 

Nimitz comply with the orders of this Court? Are there real parties in interest 

other than Nimitz, such as Mavexar and IP Edge, that have been hidden from the 

Court and the defendants? Have those real parties in interest perpetrated a fraud on 

the court by fraudulently conveying to a shell LLC the #328 patent and filing a 

fictitious patent assignment with the PTO designed to shield those parties from the 
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potential liability they would otherwise face in asserting the #328 patent in 

litigation? 

It cannot be seriously disputed that I had the inherent authority to order the 

production of these records and to invite the parties to submit names of potential 

amici to assist me in addressing the matters I have raised. "It has long been 

understood that ' [ c ]ertain implied powers must necessarily result to our Courts of 

justice from the nature of their institution,' powers 'which cannot be dispensed 

with in a Court, because they are necessary to the exercise of all others."' 

Chambers v. NASCO, Inc., 501 U.S. 32, 43 (1991) (quoting United States v. 

Hudson, 11 U.S. 32, 34 (1812)). "These powers are 'governed not by rule or 

statute but by the control necessarily vested in courts to manage their own affairs 

so as to achieve the orderly and expeditious disposition of cases."' Id. ( quoting 

Link v. Wabash R. Co., 370 U.S. 626, 630-31 (1962)). 

The Supreme Court has expressly held that a federal court's inherent powers 

include the powers I have exercised here: "the power to control admission to its bar 

and to discipline attorneys who appear before it," id., the power to enforce 

compliance with court orders, see id., and "the power to conduct an independent 

investigation in order to determine whether [the court] has been the victim of 

fraud." Id. at 44. These powers extend to nonparties. See Manez v. Bridgestone 
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Firestone N Am. Tire, LLC, 533 F.3d 578, 585 (7th Cir. 2008) ("No matter who 

allegedly commits a fraud on the court-a party, an attorney, or a nonparty 

witness-the court has the inherent power to conduct proceedings to investigate 

that allegation and, if it is proven, to punish that conduct."); Corder v. Howard 

Johnson & Co., 53 F.3d 225, 232 (9th Cir. 1994) ("[E]ven in the absence of 

statutory authority, a court may impose attorney's fees against a non party as an 

exercise of the court's inherent power to impose sanctions to curb abusive 

litigation practices." ( citations omitted)). And the Supreme Court has expressly 

approved the use of amici to help courts exercise these powers. See Universal Oil 

Prod. Co. v. Root Ref Co., 328 U.S. 575, 580-81 (1946) ("[A] court that 

undertakes an investigation of fraud upon it may avail itself ... of amici to 

represent the public interest in the administration of justice."). 

These powers "must be exercised with restraint and discretion." Chambers, 

501 U.S. at 44. That is why I have proceeded incrementally-beginning with the 

testimony of only the named owners of the LLC plaintiffs at the November 4 

hearing and then issuing the Memorandum Order compelling the production of a 

limited universe of documents directly relevant to the issues at hand. I have not 

made definitive findings and will not make any adverse findings against a party 

without providing that party a full opportunity to be heard. 
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District judges can often point to a specific federal statute or the Federal 

Rules to explain their actions. "But if in the informed discretion of the court, 

neither [a] statute nor the Rules are up to the task, the court may safely rely on its 

inherent power." Id. at 50. I have so relied here. 

November 30, 2022 
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Before PROST, HUGHES, and STOLL, Circuit Judges. 
HUGHES, Circuit Judge. 

Backertop Licensing LLC and Lori LaPray appeal the 
U.S. District Court of Delaware’s sua sponte order requir-
ing Ms. LaPray to appear in-person before the District 
Court for testimony regarding potential fraud on the court, 
as well as the District Court’s order of monetary sanctions 
against Ms. LaPray for subsequently failing to appear. Be-
cause these orders were within the District Court’s inher-
ent authority and were not abuses of discretion, we affirm 
the District Court. 

I 
A 

Over the past year and a half, the Chief Judge of the 
District of Delaware has identified potential attorney and 
party misconduct in dozens of related patent cases. See, 
e.g., Nimitz Techs. LLC v. CNET Media, Inc., No. 21-1247, 
2022 WL 17338396, at *10–12 (D. Del. Nov. 30, 2020); 
Backertop Licensing LLC v. Canary Connect, Inc., No. 22-
572 (D. Del. Apr. 28, 2022); Backertop Licensing LLC v. Au-
gust Home, Inc., No. 22-573 (D. Del. Apr. 28, 2022). The 
plaintiffs in these cases are limited liability companies 
(plaintiff LLCs) that seem to be associated with IP Edge, a 
patent monetization firm, and Mavexar, an affiliated con-
sulting shop. See, e.g., Nimitz, 2022 WL 17338396, at *10–
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12. In the District Court’s detailed memorandum, it found 
that IP Edge and Mavexar appear to have created all of the 
plaintiff LLCs; recruited outside individuals to serve as 
their sole owners; assigned patents to the plaintiff LLCs for 
little or no consideration; retained the rights to the major-
ity of royalties and settlement proceeds; and reported a 
complete assignment to the United States Patent and 
Trademark Office (PTO)—all without disclosing IP Edge’s 
ongoing rights in any patent-related proceedings. See id. at 
*16–25. The District Court found that IP Edge and 
Mavexar then directed infringement litigation asserting 
those patents—including overseeing the attorneys and 
agreeing to settlements—with seemingly little to no input 
from the plaintiff LLCs’ owners. Id. at *18–25.  

The District Court developed concerns that this ar-
rangement may conceal from the court the real parties in 
interest: IP Edge and Mavexar. Id. at *26; see also Fed. R. 
Civ. P. 17(a)(1) (“An action must be prosecuted in the name 
of the real party in interest.”). The District Court was also 
concerned whether “those real parties in interest perpe-
trated a fraud on the court by fraudulently conveying to a 
shell LLC [the patents] and filing a fictitious patent assign-
ment with the PTO designed to shield those parties from 
potential liability they would otherwise face in asserting 
[the patents] in litigation.” Nimitz, 2022 WL 17338396, at 
*26. Further, the District Court noted that the plaintiff 
LLCs and their counsel may have violated local disclosure 
rules by failing to disclose IP Edge’s or Mavexar’s funding 
for the litigation. Id. Finally, the District Court explained 
that plaintiff LLCs’ attorneys may have violated the Rules 
of Professional Conduct by filing, settling, and dismissing 
litigation at the direction of Mavexar, a non-legal consult-
ing firm, without the informed consent of the plaintiff 
LLCs’ owners. Id. at *13–18.  

In November 2022, the District Court held evidentiary 
hearings to gather more information about its concerns re-
garding the conduct of the parties. J.A. 1–2. After the hear-
ings, the District Court ordered the plaintiff LLCs and 
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their counsel to provide documents that indicated that pa-
tents had been transferred to shell LLCs. Id. One of the 
plaintiff LLCs challenged these inquiries in a petition for 
mandamus to this court. In re Nimitz Techs. LLC, No. 23-
103, 2022 WL 17494845, at *1 (Fed. Cir. Dec. 8, 2022). We 
denied the petition, confirming that the District Court has 
inherent authority to seek information related to the con-
duct of the parties. Id. at *2–3 (the District Court’s con-
cerns “[a]ll are related to potential legal issues in the case, 
subject to the ‘principle of party presentation’ . . . or to as-
pects of proper practice before the court, over which district 
courts have a range of authority preserved by the Federal 
Rules of Civil Procedure” (citing Fed. R. Civ. P. 83(b); 
Chambers v. NASCO, Inc., 501 U.S. 32 (1991))).  

B 
The cases involving Backertop Licensing LLC (Back-

ertop), and the orders that are the subject of this appeal, 
are part of the District Court’s inquiry. Ms. LaPray is the 
sole owner of Backertop. In 2022, Backertop filed at least 
twelve patent infringement cases in federal district courts 
in California, Colorado, New York, Texas, and Delaware. 
See J.A. 14, 21 (collecting cases). Ms. LaPray is also the 
managing member of six other LLCs that have filed at least 
ninety-seven patent infringement cases in federal district 
courts. See J.A. 17–20 (collecting cases as of July 2023). In 
the Backertop cases, the District Court identified the same 
pattern of potential misconduct seen in the other IP Edge-
linked and Mavexar-linked cases. 

In March 2023, after this court denied the mandamus 
petition challenging the production orders in In re Nimitz, 
the District Court ordered Backertop, Ms. LaPray, and 
their attorneys to produce documents and communications 
relating to the District Court’s concerns regarding fraud on 
the court. See J.A. 125–29; see also J.A. 3 (explaining that 
the District Court refrained from issuing the document pro-
duction order in Backertop while the In re Nimitz manda-
mus petition was pending). The District Court also ordered 
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Ms. LaPray to submit a declaration identifying “any and 
all assets owned by Backertop.” J.A. 129.  

In response, on April 3, 2023, Backertop moved to set 
aside the document production order, arguing that it was 
overly broad, sought privileged information, and exceeded 
the District Court’s jurisdiction. See J.A. 4–5. Several 
weeks later, pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 41(a)(1)(A)(ii), 
Backertop filed a joint stipulation of dismissal. J.A. 130. 
Four days later, Backertop’s local counsel, Jimmy Chong, 
filed a motion to withdraw as counsel, explaining that he 
“[was] unable to effectively communicate with [Backertop] 
in a manner consistent with good attorney-client rela-
tions.” J.A. 6. Backertop opposed his motion to withdraw. 
Id. The same day, Backertop’s other attorney, Ronald 
Burns, emailed the District Court seeking to withdraw as 
counsel. Id. Mr. Burns sent an email to the court, instead 
of filing on the docket, “due to the fact that [he could not] 
get a response from [his] local counsel,” Mr. Chong. Id. 
Mr. Burns explained that he had “started a new job” and 
“[could not] represent the plaintiff any longer.” Id.  

On May 1, 2023, the District Court set a hearing for 
June 8, 2023, “[t]o sort through [the] morass.” Id. Given 
Backertop’s opposition to its attorney’s motion to with-
draw, and the apparent conflict between Mr. Chong and 
Mr. Burns, the District Court ordered Ms. LaPray, 
Mr. Chong, and Mr. Burns to attend the hearing in person. 
Id. The District Court also denied Backertop’s motion to set 
aside the production order, citing Supreme Court and 
Third Circuit precedent confirming that voluntary dismis-
sal under Rule 41(a)(1) does not deprive the District Court 
of jurisdiction to exercise its inherent powers. J.A. 4–5 (“It 
makes no sense that a party could deprive a court of its 
inherent powers simply by filing a notice (or stipulation) of 
dismissal. To hold otherwise would render district courts 
impotent to manage their cases in an orderly fashion and 
would foster abuse of our judicial system by unethical liti-
gants and their attorneys.” (footnote and citation omitted)). 
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On May 9, 2023, Backertop produced allegedly respon-
sive documents to the District Court. See J.A. 132–33. Yet, 
as the District Court later observed, several of the docu-
ments had clearly missing attachments or cover letters. 
J.A. 190, 268. Moreover, the content of the ownership doc-
uments produced raised further questions relating to the 
District Court’s concerns about potential attorney and 
party misconduct. See, e.g., J.A. 268 (Chief Judge Connolly 
questioning whether Ms. LaPray did, “in fact, sign the doc-
uments or authorize the signature of the documents con-
temporaneously with the date of the documents”); J.A. 216, 
247 (discussing documents indicating that Mavexar re-
tained attorneys to assert a patent portfolio even before 
Backertop was created, which suggest that Mavexar is the 
principal behind the litigation). The District Court notified 
the parties that it had “questions for Ms. LaPray about the 
production[, which] require her physical presence in court” 
to “assess her credibility.” J.A. 10. The District Court also 
reiterated that it needed Ms. LaPray’s testimony to sort 
through the attorneys’ motions to withdraw, which it found 
“unusual to say the least.” Id.  

Despite her previous attendance at a hearing in Dela-
ware on November 10, 2022, Ms. LaPray notified the Dis-
trict Court that she was unable to attend the June 8, 2023, 
hearing in-person as ordered. Amicus Br. 121; J.A. 134–41. 
Ms. LaPray stated that she had preexisting travel sched-
uled from June 8 to June 15, 2023. J.A. 138. She also stated 
that she is a paralegal and had “a number of trials and 
hearing[s] through the entire summer,” although she did 
not specify dates, and that parental obligations continue to 
make travel difficult. Id. Ms. LaPray stated that she could 

 
1  Because Canary Connect, Inc. and August Home, 

Inc., the original defendants, chose not to participate in lit-
igation after their joint stipulated dismissal with Back-
ertop, our court requested amicus curiae briefing from W. 
David Maxwell of Hogan Lovells US LLP to represent the 
Delaware District Court’s position on this matter. 
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not travel to Delaware “in the foreseeable future” and re-
quested permission to appear telephonically. Id.  

To accommodate Ms. LaPray’s specific conflict from 
June 8 to June 15, 2023, the District Court set a new hear-
ing for July 20, 2023. J.A. 10. The District Court advised 
the parties that if a hearing on that date “presents excep-
tional difficulties for Ms. LaPray,” she may submit “affida-
vits and supporting documentation demonstrating exactly 
why that is the case and propose a range of alternative 
dates.” Id. The District Court denied Ms. LaPray’s request 
to appear telephonically because “[c]redibility assessments 
are difficult to make over the phone.” Id. Further, the Dis-
trict Court stated that remote hearings are “the exception, 
not the rule.” Id. The District Court sent a copy of its deci-
sion to Ms. LaPray’s employer because Backertop’s attor-
neys had indicated in their motions to withdraw that they 
were not in contact with Ms. LaPray. See J.A. 17, 279–80. 
Ms. LaPray and Backertop moved for reconsideration. See 
J.A. 140–72. They again asserted that Ms. LaPray’s daily 
family obligations would make travel to Delaware for a 
hearing difficult and requested a videoconference hearing. 
See J.A. 141.  

In denying the motion, the District Court noted that it 
was “sympathetic to the childcare burdens that business- 
and court-related travel can impose on working parents,” 
but observed that Ms. LaPray had voluntarily agreed “to 
serve as the sole natural person affiliated with Backertop” 
and to file “the dozen patent infringements suits . . . last 
year in district courts across the country, including four 
suits in Delaware.” J.A. 15. The District Court also denied 
the request to participate by videoconference, explaining 
that “[l]ive, in-person testimony remains the best means of 
ascertaining the truth.” J.A. 14.  

For the first time, Backertop also argued in its motion 
for reconsideration that Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 
45’s geographic limit precludes the District Court’s order 
requiring Ms. LaPray to appear in Delaware. See J.A. 12–
13. After first noting that the argument had been forfeited 
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for failure to raise it earlier, the District Court rejected the 
argument on the merits. Id. The District Court stated that 
its order to appear was based on its inherent powers, not 
FRCP 45. J.A. 13. And it further stated that FRCP 45 “has 
no bearing on the circumstances at hand,” because it only 
imposes geographic limits on subpoenas issued by an attor-
ney or the clerk at a party’s request. Id. The District Court 
therefore concluded that FRCP 45 did not restrict its inher-
ent power to sua sponte order Ms. LaPray to appear. J.A. 
13–14.  

After Ms. LaPray refused to attend the July 20, 2023, 
hearing, the District Court held a show cause hearing on 
August 1, 2023, to provide Ms. LaPray with an opportunity 
to show why she should not be held in civil contempt. See 
J.A. 24. Ms. LaPray did not appear at that hearing. Id. Her 
attorney noted that Ms. LaPray would stand on her argu-
ments made in her motion to dismiss the contempt proceed-
ing, id., including the FRCP 45 argument, see Backertop 
Licensing LLC v. Canary Connect, Inc., No. 22- 572, ECF 
No. 54 at 9–10 (D. Del. July 28, 2023).  

In another detailed memorandum, the District Court 
rejected Ms. LaPray’s arguments. See J.A. 24–30. The Dis-
trict Court found Ms. LaPray in civil contempt of court and 
imposed a fine of $200 per day until Ms. LaPray appeared 
in-person in court. J.A. 30. Backertop and Ms. LaPray ap-
pealed the District Court’s orders, and—as the original op-
posing parties were dismissed from the case—our court 
appointed amicus curiae counsel to represent the District 
Court’s position. See Amicus Br. 1. 

II 
Because this appeal involves “procedural matters that 

are not unique to patent issues,” we apply the law of the 
regional circuit court—here, the Third Circuit. Wilson 
Sporting Goods Co. v. Hillerich & Bradsby Co., 442 F.3d 
1322, 1325–26 (Fed. Cir. 2006). The District Court’s exer-
cise of its inherent power is reviewed for abuse of discre-
tion. See Chambers, 501 U.S. at 55 (“We review a court’s 
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imposition of sanctions under its inherent power for abuse 
of discretion.”); United States v. Wright, 913 F.3d 364, 369 
(3d Cir. 2019) (reviewing dismissal of an indictment “based 
on the Court’s inherent power for abuse of discretion”). 
Whether the District Court possesses a particular inherent 
power, however, is a question of law reviewed de novo. Hol-
land v. New Jersey Dep’t of Corrs., 246 F.3d 267, 281 (3d 
Cir. 2001).  

Contempt orders are reviewed for abuse of discretion. 
United States v. Sarbello, 985 F.2d 716, 727 (3d Cir. 1993). 
An abuse of discretion requires either “an error of law or a 
clearly erroneous judgment or finding of fact.” Id. Con-
tempt findings must be based on clear and convincing evi-
dence. Id. 

As the Third Circuit has explained, “when an order is 
appealable, and one foregoes the appeal, he may not raise 
the validity of the order at a subsequent contempt trial.” 
United States v. Pearce, 792 F.2d 397, 400 (3d Cir. 1986); 
see also Maggio v. Zeitz, 333 U.S. 56, 68 (1948) (“[W]hen 
completed and terminated in a final order, [the order] be-
comes res judicata and not subject to collateral attack in 
the contempt proceedings.”). In contrast, when the under-
lying order is interlocutory and non-appealable, there is no 
concern with giving litigants a second bite at the apple. The 
order’s validity may therefore be raised during contempt 
proceedings. Pearce, 792 F.2d at 400. 

Here, the District Court’s order to appear was interloc-
utory and non-appealable. See Micro Motion Inc. v. Exac 
Corp., 876 F.2d 1574, 1576 (Fed. Cir. 1989) (citing Alexan-
der v. United States, 201 U.S. 117, 121–22 (1906) (“The 
nonappealability of orders requiring the production of evi-
dence from witnesses has long been established.”)); see also 
id. at 1577 (collecting cases from other circuits).  

Because civil contempt orders are interlocutory, par-
ties may not appeal civil contempt orders “except incident 
to an appeal from a judgment otherwise appealable.” Hal-
derman v. Pennhurst State Sch. & Hosp., 673 F.2d 628, 636 
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(3d Cir. 1982); see also Constr. Drilling, Inc. v. Chusid, 90 
F. App’x 630, 632 (3d Cir. 2004). For non-parties, however, 
the rule is different: “[N]on-party witnesses who are held 
in contempt may immediately appeal the contempt order.” 
Wallace v. Kmart Corp., 687 F.3d 86, 89 (3d Cir. 2012); see 
also Alexander, 201 U.S. at 121 (1906) (“Let the court go 
farther, and punish the witness for contempt of its order—
then arrives a right of review.”) (cleaned up); In re Flat 
Glass Antitrust Litig., 288 F.3d 83, 87 (3d Cir. 2002) (“An 
adjudication of contempt . . . provides the finality neces-
sary to initiate an appeal.”). 

Here, Ms. LaPray—as an officer of Backertop—is best 
characterized as a non-party for purposes of appealability. 
The Third Circuit has indicated that an officer of a party is 
generally considered a non-party. See E. Maico Distribs., 
Inc. v. Maico-Fahrzeugfabrik, G.m.b.H, 658 F.2d 944, 949 
(3d Cir. 1981) (“In civil contempt proceedings or Rule 37(b) 
sanctions against a non-party, even against an attorney to 
or an officer of a party, an appeal generally need not wait 
until final judgment in the case as a whole.”). The Ninth 
Circuit agrees. See, e.g., David v. Hooker, Ltd., 560 F.2d 
412, 417 (9th Cir. 1977) (“[T]his court . . . rejected the con-
tention that, in determining the finality of judgments for 
appeal, officers of corporate defendants must be considered 
as parties.”). The civil contempt order against Ms. LaPray 
gives her as much of a “distinct and severable interest”—
facing personal fines—as any other non-party witness per-
mitted to appeal. United States v. Sciarra, 851 F.2d 621, 
628 (3d Cir. 1988). 

Therefore, we may review the District Court’s order to 
appear in the context of Ms. LaPray’s appeal from the Dis-
trict Court’s contempt order.2 

 
2  Although the District Court found that Backertop 

forfeited its FRCP 45 argument, it nonetheless addressed 
the argument on the merits. J.A. 12–13.  We decline to find 
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III 
A 

We hold that the District Court’s order requiring 
Ms. LaPray to appear at an in-person hearing falls 
squarely within its inherent powers. Contrary to Appel-
lants’ arguments, the District Court’s order did not conflict 
with FRCP 45, because that Rule does not limit the geo-
graphical range of a court’s ability to sua sponte issue an 
order to appear. 

On its face, FRCP 45 only applies to a party or attor-
ney’s efforts to subpoena a person required to attend a trial, 
hearing, or deposition within a 100-mile radius. It states:  

(a) IN GENERAL[ . . . ]  
(3) Issued by Whom. The clerk must issue a 
subpoena, signed but otherwise in blank, to 
a party who requests it. That party must 
complete it before service. An attorney also 
may issue and sign a subpoena if the attor-
ney is authorized to practice in the issuing 
court. [ . . . ]  

Fed. R. Civ. P. 45(a)(3). Elsewhere, FRCP 45 confirms that 
“[a] party or attorney” is “responsible for issuing and serv-
ing a subpoena” under the Rule. Fed. R. Civ. P. 45(d)(1). It 
is therefore up to “[a] party or attorney” to “take reasonable 
steps to avoid imposing undue burden or expense on a per-
son subject to the subpoena.” Id. Nowhere does FRCP 45 
mention the court’s own orders to appear, issued without a 

 
forfeiture and instead exercise our discretion to rule on the 
merits. See In re Imerys Talc Am., Inc., 38 F.4th 361, 373 
(3d Cir. 2022) (“[T]he waiver rule is one of discretion rather 
than jurisdiction, and we may overlook waiver where, as 
here, the public interest is better served by addressing [an 
argument] than by ignoring it.”) (internal punctuation and 
citations omitted).  
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request from a party or attorney. Given this silence, the 
District Court’s sua sponte order compelling Ms. LaPray to 
appear is not “contrary to any express grant of or limitation 
on the district court’s power contained in a rule or statute.” 
Dietz v. Bouldin, 579 U.S. 40, 45–46 (2016). 

Indeed, many of FRCP 45’s requirements would be il-
logical if applied to a court’s own orders. For instance, a 
court would be required to “impose an appropriate sanc-
tion” on itself should the court fail to “take reasonable steps 
to avoid imposing undue burden or expense on a person 
subject to the subpoena.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 45(d)(1). FRCP 
45(a)(2) also requires that the subpoena “must issue from 
the court where the action is pending”—a self-evident re-
quirement, if applied to a court’s own order to compel ap-
pearance. And while federal agencies are explicitly exempt 
from the FRCP 45 requirement to “tender[] the fees for 1 
day’s attendance and the mileage allowed by law” when 
serving a subpoena, federal courts would be required to pay 
those fees. Fed. R. Civ. P. 45(b)(1). Reading FRCP 45 as a 
whole, we conclude that none of these requirements apply 
to a court’s own order compelling a witness to appear. As a 
result, neither do the geographic limitations in FRCP 
45(c)(1), contrary to Appellants’ arguments. We hold that 
FRCP 45 governs party- and attorney-initiated subpoenas 
only.  

The absence of an express limit on sua sponte court or-
ders in FRCP 45 alone is dispositive. See Dietz, 579 U.S. at 
45–46. The distinction between party-initiated subpoenas 
and sua sponte court orders is also consistent with the his-
torical context of FRCP 45. Since its inception, FRCP 45—
which has always included a geographic limit—has ex-
pressly applied to subpoenas that parties requested and 
served without initial court oversight. See Rule of Civil Pro-
cedure for the District Courts of the United States 45(a), 
1934 Edition U.S.C. Supplement 5 874 (1939) (“The clerk 
shall issue a subpoena . . . signed and sealed but otherwise 
in blank, to a party requesting it, who shall fill it in before 
service.”), 45(e)(1) (“A subpoena requiring the attendance 
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of a witness . . . may be served at any place within the dis-
trict, or at any place without the district that is within 100 
miles . . . .”).  

In 1991, FRCP 45 was amended to allow attorneys 
themselves to issue a subpoena, again without initial court 
oversight. See Notes of Advisory Comm. On Rules—1991 
Amendment. Without upfront court supervision, and given 
the high volume of subpoena practice in federal courts, it 
makes sense that the Rules would impose bright-line rules 
on the scope of party- and attorney-initiated subpoenas—
as well as specific mechanisms to hold parties and attor-
neys accountable. See id. (“[A]ccompanying the evolution of 
this power of the lawyer as officer of the court is the devel-
opment of increased responsibility and liability for the mis-
use of this power.”); see also Fed. R. Civ. P. 45(d)(1) (party 
or attorney must “take reasonable steps to avoid imposing 
undue burden or expense” on subpoena recipients and face 
sanctions if they fail to do so). These guardrails are in-
tended to protect non-parties before they have to incur the 
time and expense of appearing to challenge a party- or at-
torney-initiated subpoena in court.  

A court’s sua sponte order to appear does not raise the 
same concerns as a subpoena initiated by the parties. Such 
orders necessarily involve court oversight at the outset. 
The court itself will know who is receiving the subpoena 
and will have weighed the need for the testimony against 
the potential burden on that person. It therefore is under-
standable that FRCP 45 only expressly addresses attorney- 
and party-initiated subpoenas, leaving district courts with 
discretion to manage their own orders to appear. 

B 
Turning to the District Court’s contempt order, Appel-

lants focus on an alleged conflict between the District 
Court’s order to appear and FRCP 45. Backertop and 
Ms. LaPray do not argue that the District Court’s order to 
appear was otherwise unreasonable or an abuse of discre-
tion. Nor could they. The District Court’s order was a 
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“‘reasonable response to the problems and needs’ confront-
ing the court’s fair administration of justice.” Dietz, 579 
U.S. at 45 (quoting Degen v. United States, 517 U.S. 820, 
823–24 (1996)).  

The District Court’s order to compel Ms. LaPray’s at-
tendance was an appropriate means to investigate poten-
tial misconduct involving Backertop, a corporate party of 
which she is the sole representative. More specifically, the 
District Court’s stated concerns include that Backertop 
may have concealed certain third-party funding and the 
real parties in interest, that those real parties in interest 
may have perpetrated a fraud on the court, and that Back-
ertop’s counsel may have failed to comply with the Rules of 
Professional Conduct. See J.A. 16. Backertop’s counsel’s 
motions to withdraw and Backertop’s insufficient docu-
ment production only compounded the District Court’s con-
cerns. See J.A. 10.  

In light of this, compelling Ms. LaPray’s attendance 
was not an abuse of discretion of the District Court’s inher-
ent authority. The District Court stated that Ms. LaPray’s 
attendance in person was required to assess her credibility 
given (1) “the representations and positions of counsel and 
Ms. LaPray” and their apparent lack of communication, es-
pecially in light of counsels’ motion to withdraw; and 
(2) the District Court’s “questions for Ms. LaPray about 
[Backertop’s document] production.” J.A. 10. As the Third 
Circuit recognizes, it is particularly important to observe 
witnesses in person when making credibility determina-
tions. See Dia v. Ashcroft, 353 F.3d 228, 252 n.23 (3d Cir. 
2003). While another district court may have found that a 
telephonic or videoconference hearing was sufficient, it was 
reasonable for the District Court here to require in-person 
testimony in furtherance of its authority to investigate at-
torney and party misconduct.  

Moreover, the District Court had already rescheduled 
the hearing once to accommodate Ms. LaPray’s preexisting 
travel and expressed willingness to accommodate similar 
specific conflicts, with proposed alternative dates. J.A. 10. 
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Ms. LaPray never identified other specific conflicts, other 
than continuing childcare obligations making travel at any 
time difficult, nor did she propose alternative dates. In-
stead, she chose to move for reconsideration. See J.A. 140–
72. Under these circumstances, it was not an abuse of dis-
cretion to compel Ms. LaPray’s attendance at the July 20, 
2023, hearing and hold her in civil contempt of the court 
when she did not appear. 

IV 
We have considered Appellants’ remaining arguments 

and find them unpersuasive. Because the District Court 
was within its inherent authority to order Ms. LaPray to 
appear before it to investigate fraud on the court, and the 
order imposing monetary sanctions when she did not ap-
pear was not an abuse of discretion, we affirm.  

AFFIRMED 
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